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Our 
VISION

“To be the leading African 
Institution in building human 
capacity for poverty reduction”.

Our 
MISSION

“To link knowledge to application 
within communities in order to 
reduce poverty in partner countries 
in Africa”.

Core Values
Partnership: “Ownership, participation, and promotion of South-to-South   
   cooperation”. 

Equity:  “Equitable generation and distribution of resources and benefits”.

Empowerment: “Enabling communities to make decisions leading to poverty reduction”.

Excellence:   “Excellence in innovativeness and promotion of Indigenous Knowledge,  
   acquisition, development, storage and dissemination”.

Responsiveness: “Timely response to community needs”.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The 14th Annual Report covers the fiscal year 2015/2016. In this period AICAD undertook a number of 
planned activities in the four divisions of Training and extension (T&E), Research and Development (R&D), 
administration and Finance (A&F) and Information networking and Documentation (IN&D)

Research and Development Division (R&D), continued to coordinate the implementation of activities in the 
partner countries of Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda. The activities within the Division were conducted in the 
major thematic categories of Knowledge and Technology Dissemination Programme (KTDP), System of Rice 
Intensification (SRI); agriculture and cross-cutting issues and Support to National/International Organizations 
(SNIO).

During the 2015/2016 Financial Year, the Training and Extension Division (T&E) continued to coordinate and/
or implement activities revolving around the division’s mandate. These activities were conducted at both the 
headquarters in Juja, Kenya and at the country offices in Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda.

Administration and Finance (A&F) division continued to support the other divisions financially. It also 
supported in staff development i.e. the Director of A&F attended a training on Credit/Debt Management and 
Collections in Nairobi; the Directors of R&D, T&E and attended E-Waste Training Conference in Nairobi 
while the Internal Editor attended a training on Case ware Africa Seminar for Accountants and Auditors.  The 
Institute’s Accountant attended a Budget Review Seminar organized by ICPAK.

The Information, Networking and Documentation (IN&D) division also continued to provide support to 
facilitate preparations and seeing AICAD publications through print to make AICAD generated information 
accessible for ease and wider dissemination,
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This past year, 2015/2016 has been an important 
one for our Institute, as well as for the stakeholders 
that have been part of its journey since inception. 
AICAD has been going through transformation 
over the past years and it may not be easy to assess 
the transformation impact from one single year’s 
performance, but as we look back, it becomes clear 
just how much has changed.  The key driver behind 
this change has continued to be the conclusion 
of support to AICAD by the Japan International 
Corporation Agency (JICA) in 2012. 

Despite this change, AICAD has remained valid 
and relevant to the National Development Agendas 
and society transformation trends of the three East 
African states of Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda who 
subscribe to its existence through the commitments 
they have made to continue supporting the Institute. 

The retention and active participation of the bulk 
of our employees in AICAD’s transformation has 
added to the collective strength of our Institute. 
Our teams feel engaged and empowered to 
improve and push our shared ambitions to greater 
heights. AICAD’s transformation will continue 
to build from what we have been achieving.                                                                                                                        
 
We acknowledge that during the year, there were a 
number of challenges that affected our performance 
at some point and that these challenges may very well 
continue to influence the Institute in the coming year. 
We are however, confident that our performance will 
continue to improve and that we are aware of what 
needs to be done in order to make progress.

We expect to continue focusing on the problem of 
poverty and its indicators (diseases, poor shelter, 
production, malnutrition etc.) that impact on 

society negatively and to develop mechanisms for 
dealing with it decisively.  Through support of the 
knowledge generation base in universities targeting 
key thematic and problematic areas, AICAD will 
continue to support cutting edge research with 
a view to generating outputs that can drive the 
transformation from the perpetual handout and 
begging syndrome to one of vibrant production and 
conclusive investment.  This notion is based on the 
fact that Africa as a continent and East Africa as a 
region hold in trust the biggest arable land acreage, 
the cheapest labour market and the best climate that 
requires minimal input for any form of agricultural 
production.  Against this background, and with a 
resilient centre of new innovations and inventions, 
the establishment goal of AICAD will be felt.  

We expect that Management will execute AICAD’s 
Programmes and activities as planned, with the full 
support of the Governing Board.  This should act 
as a catalyst for widening partnerships not only for 
support but also for enriching the Institute’s programs 
and for increasing synergies and efficiencies in their 
implementation, thus enabling AICAD to achieve 
her set goals and objectives and expand to greater 
horizons.

Dr. Rose Nasali Lukwago

PERMANENT SECRETARY, MINISTRY OF 
EDUCATION, SCIENCE & TECHNOLOGY, 
UGANDA AND CHAIRPERSON, AICAD 
GOVERNING BOARD       
  

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRPERSON OF THE GOVERNING BOARD
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First and foremost accept my apologies and those of 
Management for this late publication.  The problems 
related to this delay were beyond our control. 
However in the light of a positive stance, readers 
allow me present to you key milestones and strides 
to make sure such a scenario will not re-occur.  In 
2015/2016 financial year although AICAD projected 
income from partnering universities reduced, 
the government remittances and AICAD’s Aid in 
Appropriation (AIA) was channeled to the cleared 
budget plans in order for AICAD to remain relevant 
and visible in the prime mandate of Training, 
Research and Poverty reduction issues. 

A clear mandate was set out in the 2015/2016 financial 
year to devolve and decentralize AICAD’s governance 
in order to make a positive impact beginning and 
basing on three Governments National Planning 
Agendas of the supporting Governments of Kenya, 
Tanzania and Uganda.  Despite the many huddles 
AICAD faced, management remained focused on 
Institution’s mandate and continued to listen to the 
policy formulating body the Governing Board with a 
view to position the Institute on the correct path.  It 
is through the wise counsel of the Governing Board 
members that Management looked at the SWORT 
analysis of the resources (Human and Financial) at 
our disposal and concretized a formidable new trend 
of events that the proceeding years and publications 
of annual reports show a positive trend.  This is 
noticeable and outcomes will remain clear and 
eminent.

AICAD collected Kshs 140,756,618 and her 
expenditure was Kshs 154,429,154 ending the year 
2015/2016 with an operating deficit of (ksh13, 

672,536).  It is also in this financial year that major 
donor funded projects were winding up and a 
lot of input was invested in formulating bridging 
phases and new proposal writing to beef up income 
generation of the Institute in order to accomplish 
the 2012 – 2017 Strategic Plan aspirations. Results 
continue to trickle in slowly particularly in the 
2016/2017 Annual Report.

This time of reporting coincided with midterm 
Strategic Plan evaluation for AICAD. Management 
took stock of the accomplished set goals, plans and 
activities and re-positioned the Institute in a fast 
changing environment to remain relevant to society’s 
needs.  Great strides were made towards rolling 
out the financial accomplishments of 2012-2017 
Strategic Plan and I take this opportunity to thank 
the Governments of Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda for 
the financial support that came through as budgeted.  
As for the stakeholders – partnering Universities, 
development partners and particularly JICA the 
AICAD founding donor we remain indebted to the 
valuable and systematic advice to have the Institute’s 
vision realized for society’s transformation.  As the 
captain I pledge continued team work and success at 
all times as management gears up to show case better 
and steady results.

Prof. Dominic Byarugaba

AG EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MESSAGE FROM THE AG. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR



AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT 
ANNUAL REPORT   2015 – 2016

viii

The AICAD Governance Structure is as shown below. At the apex is the Governing Board which is the supreme 
and policy making organ for the Institute. The members of the GB are drawn from the member states, public 
universities from the member countries, and the development partners. The Governance Structure also has 
the Annual General Meeting (AGM), which is an advisory body without administrative functions. Next in 
the hierarchy is the Secretariat, which is headed by the Executive Director, and is composed of four divisions 
Administration and Finance (A&F), Research and Development (R&D), Training and Extension (T&E) and 
Information Network and Documentation (IN&D), each of which is headed by a Director. The functional 
divisions (R&D, T&E and IN&D) report to the Deputy Executive Director.  Within the organogram of AICAD 
are three country offices, one in each of the three member Countries, with possibility for expansion into 
additional countries.

AICAD GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

GOVERNING BOARD (GB)

Executive Director Office

Annual General Meeting (AGM)

Deputy Executive 
Director Office

Research & 
Development 

Division
(R&D)

Training & Extension
Division 

(T&E)

Information, Networks 
& Documentation 

Division (IN&D)

Country Offices

Administration & 
Finance Division 

(A&F)
Internal Auditor

Kenya

Tanzania

Potential Member 
States - 

Burundi, Rwanda,
Southern Sudan

Uganda
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1.0 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
DIVISION

1.1 Introduction 
During the 2015/2016 season, the Research and 
Development Division (R&D), continued to 
coordinate the implementation of activities in the 
partner countries of Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda. 
The activities within the Division were conducted 
in the major thematic categories of Knowledge and 
Technology Dissemination Programme (KTDP); 
System of Rice Intensification (SRI); agriculture 
and cross-cutting issues and support to National/
International Organizations (SNIO). The activities 
implemented under each of the thematic area 
presented in the following sections, viz.; 1.2.1 KTDP 
–Situation analysis on Ceramics in Uganda1.3.1 SRI 
-Promoting improved rice cultivation in Ahero and 
West Kano (Kenya).  Production of bio-gas using 
solid waste in Morogoro Municipality in partnership 
with Sokoine University of Agriculture, African 
Union and Morogoro Municipality Market Vendors, 
Tanzania.  The last part of R&D report is on support 
of national/international organizations and cover the 
development of Strategic Plan for the Water Resource 
Research Centre (JKUAT) and collaboration with the 
Germany’s Ministry of Food and Agriculture. Major 
highlights of the activities conducted under each of 
the thematic category mentioned above are as follows: 

1.2 Knowledge and Technology Dissemination 
Programme (KTDP)

1.2.1 Situation Analysis on Ceramic 
Technologies in Uganda

In quest for revival of the ceramics knowledge transfer 
and dissemination program interventions, AICAD 
embarked on a situation analysis in September 
2015. This was conducted due to the time that had 
elapsed since the last research which was initiated in 
2004 with support from AICAD in order to inform 
decision making on the most relevant interventions 
in the ceramics industry in Uganda.

In 2004, AICAD funded a study to assess the potential 
of ceramic cottage industry as a means of alleviating 
poverty in Uganda. The project focused on low 
income earners in Kibumbiro near Kampala, being 
a traditional community known to have been the 
potters of the Kabaka of Buganda Kingdom; Kajjansi 
in Wakiso which had mostly youth taking advantage 
of available clay raw materials; development 
technology given its proximity to Uganda Clays; 
Lweza Clays and Namamve in Wakiso district on the 
shores of Lake Victoria. 

The three primary areas of the project had over 
the past decade progressed differently, with the 
conservative Kibumbiro community registering 
hardly any change while the Potter supported in 
Namanve and the dynamic youth in Kajjansi had 
progressed greatly irrespective of being close to the 
lucrative city market.

Kibumbiro was found to be constrained in terms 
of supply of inputs, following construction of the 
Kampala northern bypass which alienated the 
ceramists from their previous source for raw materials 
particularly clay.  Technology and fuel for firing was 
equally a challenge alongside limited diversification 
in products and market, while family labour was 
becoming less reliable as younger family members are 
opted for what they described as ‘non-dirty’ sources 
of income such as working in the transport sector 
“Taxis” as touts which they perceived to provide 
daily income.  The Kibumbiro community had stuck 
to pottery with their products being limited to pots 
and bowls for home use and traditional ceremonies 
while firing is done using the traditional method of 
grass and firewood with their market being mainly 
the retailers in Kampala’s Owino Market.

On the contrary, the dynamic youth in Kajjansi had 
taken advantage of their proximity to Uganda Clays, 
occasionally getting hands on training from the 
factory’s production staff to build on the theory that 
they got from AICAD supported trainings in the past.  
The youth had already taken a step in collective access 

CHAPTER 1
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to inputs, production including firing and marketing 
with their current challenge being capacity to satisfy 
the demand. Above all the Kajansi area is located 
along the Kampala-Entebbe road with a lot of clients 
due to easy advertisement and roadside marketing.

1.2.2  Success Stories: Some Findings from the 
Situation Analysis

A number of the ceramists had made progress 
in developing their skills, under the project, 
implemented by the Makerere University (under Dr. 
Rose Kirumira Namubiru, of the School of Industrial 
Arts), and AICAD. These ceramists include: Mr. J. 
Kita, who established a business at Kamongkole; J. 
Kalule become a model ceramist and established 
a workshop at Namamve; J. Kawoya, a teacher of 
business at a Secondary School; R. Bukenya, pursuing 
a PhD on firing technology; and, A. Ssekibera, a BSc 
undergraduate student in art and design at Nkumba 
University along Kampala-Entebbe road.  

In Namanve Wakiso district, Mr. Kalule, a former 
AICAD trainee was found to have developed as an 
individual ceramist where other potters were being 
nurtured, first as workers but gradually opted to 
start their own businesses with some coming back 
occasionally to fire their works because of his well-
structured firing point. Kalule appeared to have 
progressed well due to his background, having a 
diploma in Industrial ceramics from former Uganda 
Polytechnic Kyambogo and had access to a ruined 
family pottery that had not been operational since his 
father’s death more than a decade ago.  Kalule revived 
the ruined family business as part of his course 
work and industrial training but got encouraged to 
continue beyond the course when people started 
picking interest in his products with added and 
advanced values.

‘…I called Mr. Kalyambi who used to work here with 
my late father, Edward Kalule to help me with the 
practical aspects…I had the theory. He helped me 
with the practice…I was struggling for about five 
years...then AICAD came up...I knew the scientific 
part but quality was an issue…AICAD helped me 
improve my Kiln which I moved outside and was 
insulated’, Kalule related. 

Kalule John was open to training interested people 
and occasionally took on students for industrial 

training as a way of giving back to the community 
in appreciation of the mentoring support he received 
from Mr Kalyambi who had worked with his late 
father, Mr Edward Kalule.  

‘..the old man (Mr. Kalyambi) had not gone to school 
but was better than me who had got formal training. 
He inspired me to take on people who get training 
as they work for me…when I train them, they bring 
me more raw materials…some eventually become 
independent and now run their own businesses’ 

Mr Kalule was supported in record keeping, studio 
organization and focusing on ceramics as a business.  
He now concentrates on actual production while 
other workers do other things like marketing of the 
finished products.

‘..Local people have lots of designs that you learn from 
as you train them…I was an ordinary potter with no 
departments, but with AICAD support, I have learnt 
to differentiate functions and built departments’.  

Mr Kalule has a variety of products including 
improved water pots, mainly bought by Indians, 
plant/flower pots mainly bought by the locals and 
hotels while he also has products that are bought by 
tourists.  He is also the supplier of pots for a renowned 
entertainment group in Uganda- the Ndere Troupe 
and is proud of having hosted most of the small 
potters in Kampala with four studios in Kajjansi, one 
in Nambole and another group which he had trained 
in Iganga district. 

The situation analysis team also visited Kyambogo 
University Department of Art and Industrial design, 
ceramics section.  The University was found to have 
prioritized developing an indigenous model for 
ceramics and pottery with a focus on traditional 
and adapted knowledge such as use of locally 
available materials as opposed to glazing style which 
is currently limited to test samples. The Ceramics 
Department had evolved following the merger 
between Uganda Polytechnic Kyambogo Department 
of Industrial Ceramics, Institute of Teacher 
Education Kyambogo Department of Industrial Art 
and Kyambogo University Department of Art and 
Industrial design.  The University staff recommended 
future collaboration to be participatory in nature with 
Memoranda of Association clearly stipulating the 
roles and contribution to the process by both AICAD 
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and Kyambogo University.  Kyambogo University 
was visibly engaged in both pottery and ceramics 
with products at different levels of production in 
different places of the department.  Kyambogo 
University recommended developing training camps’ 
production centers suggesting that AICAD could put 
up demonstration centers in ceramics with a focus 
on traditional and adapted knowledge as has been 
the case in China. Uganda is rich in clay as a key 
raw material for ceramics work and products that 
lie in the vast swampy environments countrywide. 
With this resource, if ceramics knowledge is widely 
shared then interest can rise and poverty alleviation 
initiatives geared towards skills development would 
roll out exponentially. 

‘….if you get a potter from Karamoja...can this one 
be fed and housed by the university….in the process 
the potter will learn contemporary skills and the 
university (students and lecturers) will equally 
learn some indigenous skills and technics….’, Kalule 
opined. 

There was great concern about the unexploited 
potential for ceramics in Uganda as the country has 
quality ceramic raw materials yet we continue to 
import a lot of ceramic products from China ranging 
from plates, cups to tiles, toilet seats, sinks and bath 
tubs. An improvement on the products in this sector 
would attract a wide in the construction industry.

Kyambogo University has a lot of partnership 
experience having worked with the Ministry of Energy 
on developing the cooking stoves, incinerators, 
insulators and cooking coils. The university also 
had collaborative research with other departments 
and institutions including the Department of 
Mechanical Engineering at Makerere University. 
If this sector is given the attention it deserves, then 
better foundations and big investments can open a 
wide space for modern products and create jobs for 
the population.

Challenges:

• Most of the ceramists had low business 
operations, translating to equally low earnings. 
They mainly operated as individuals or in small 
groups; - cooperation/cooperatives is the way to 
go. 

• Clay, the raw material for the business, 
was becoming scarce as it was affected by 
encroachment from developers (road works, 
housing estates etc.) into the swamps, this being 
the major source of the materials. However, 
innovative ceramists tackled the problem by 
importing the materials in trucks from other 
areas; - at present, the government of Uganda 
through National Environment Management 
Authority (NEMA) is undertaking restoration 
programmes.

• Many of the ceramists were still stuck in the 
traditional methods of production. The positive 
side to this point was that the people maintained 
a strong cultural attachment to industry (thus 
being called ‘Kibumbira’ or Kabaka’s potters). 
Therefore the livelihood of many people would 
be influenced positively with the dissemination 
of the technical skills;

• The ceramists had limited products: cups, flower 
pots, water pots, bowls, hatchery pots, cooking 
stoves, water dispensers and plates, which 
unfortunately, were of low qualities and fetched 
low prices;- continued trainings will improve on 
quality and value thus better earnings. 

• Lack of basic equipment for processing (drying, 
firing and designs), notably, the kilns (furnaces), 
and potter’s wheels, were of serious concerns. 
Use of firewood and papyrus firing was 
environmentally unfriendly and unsustainable;  
- a modern way of firing needs to be invented 
and brought on board to compete with imported 
ceramic products, particularly from China, 
Pakistan, Spain, Egypt and Italy.

• The youth generally tended to have low opinions 
about the business, with the saying ‘A person 
will never become rich playing about with soils’. 
However with the introduction of technologies, 
such attitudes would change. 

• Lastly there is a new competition evolving in 
the market from cement-made products that 
are deemed more durable but rather do not look 
beautiful over time as they become coated with 
rust and lower plants over time unlike glazed 
clay products;- in this way, efforts are needed to 
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increase perception change in society as Uganda 
gears up the slogan “Buy Uganda, Build Uganda”.

Conclusion:

AICAD hopes to continue working on this area 
for a vibrant ceramics community in Uganda that 
has indigenous designs which are branded and 
aggressively marketed.  The interventions will 
however be four-pronged.  

• Focus on traditional potters with Kibumbiro as 
an entry point to be supported in collective access 
to inputs, production and marketing. Support 
to improved production will include improved 
firing with possibility of setting up a joint firing 
centre that can have improved technology, while 
collective marketing would include  support in 
market assessment and product development 
where the community identifies potential 
markets and their needs to inform decision on 
products to be generated as opposed to current 
reliance on traditional pots and bowls.

• Focus on trainning  of trainers where at 
least one progressive ceramist as identified 
by the situation analysis in Kajjansi-Wakiso, 
Kibumbiro-Kampala, Namanve-Mukono and 
Zigoti-Mityana would work with a respective 
university to develop a  vibrant ceramics 
community with indigenous designs that are 
aggressively marketed. The universities can also 
upload their curriculum to suit international 
industrial output standards.

• Explore tripartite relationships  between relevant 
Universities, the four ceramic communities and 
relevant line ministries such as Ministry for 
Energy or Ministry of Water and Environment 
for production to have alternative outputs to 
those currently imported. It is important that 
similar line departments and sectors liaise with 
Uganda Investment Authority to champion 
an investment plan to compete with imported 
ceramic utensils and materials for both domestic 
and construction purposes.

• Explore collaborative relationships between the 
developed ceramics communities in Kajjansi, 
Namanve, Kibumbiro, Zigoti and already 

established factories such as Uganda Clays at 
Kajjansi and Kamonkhole and Lweza clays 
for collaborative production especially for 
diversification and supply to customers thus 
enhance cost effecitiveness of the production.

In order to improve the output and quality of products 
from the ceramics industry at local level, AICAD 
would embark on trainings to increase the technical 
skills and knowledge of communities involved in the 
industry. Ceramists would also be helped to form 
groups/cooperatives in order to encourage collective 
marketing for a better bargaining power with market, 
investments, and government and policy structures 
for better business ventures. 

1.3 System of Rice Intensification
1.3.1 Promoting Improved Rice Cultivation in 
Ahero and Western Kano (Kenya) 

Evaluating and disseminating the Systems of Rice 
Intensification (SRI) - a method of combining at least 
two of the following options: Regulated water use of 
alternate flooding and drying up water from the seed 
bed; transplanting relatively young seedlings (8-15 
days old) to the main field; transplanting of single 
seedlings in straight lines, at spacing of 25 cm x 25 
cm; applying organic manure to enhance soil fertility, 
and use of rotor weeders. Meanwhile, rice plants 
from the Control had the following treatments; 
were raised from seedlings transplanted at 21 days 
or more; seedlings not planted in rows; seed beds 
flooded during most of the growing period, and; 
weeding done by hand. However, the same blanket 
treatments of plowing the land using the tractor, was 
made for both the SRI and Control blocks.    

This report covers the project activity undertaken at 
the Ahero and South-West Kano, and managed by the 
National Irrigation Board (NIB) of Kenya.  The Lead 
Researcher for this project, Prof. Bancy Mati, was 
also the head of the JKUAT-based Water Research 
and Resource Centre (WARREC). 
The objectives of the activities were: To monitor the 
progress made by farmers in the Schemes adopting 
SRI; to provide solutions to the challenges the 
farmers faced during the commodity’s value chain, 
and; to impart to farmers new skills for improving 
soil fertility. 
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At the Ahero Irrigation Scheme, the farmers had 
established SRI demonstration blocks, which clearly 
showed the difference in general plant vigour under 
SRI and in Control plots. Besides, the farmers had 
expressed interest in adopting SRI, because this 
system required only 5 kg. of seeds to raise seedlings 
for 1 acre, whereas the Control required 25kg/acre. 
Thus the farmers appreciated that adopting the SRI 
method of cultivation would be economical as the 
price of quality seeds are usually rated high.

Additionally, the farmers were in agreement that 
the plants raised under SRI had up to 50 tillers per 
transplanted seedling, when compared to fewer than 
15 tillers/ seedling. The vibrant plants from SRI plots 
would produce high crop yields at the end of the 
season.  

The farmers estimated that from 50-70% of their 
fellow farmers in West Kano and South West Kano 
Schemes had adopted SRI. This level of adoption was 
predicted to increase as the other farmers copied the 
effects of the system from their neighbours.    

Addressing the challenges of rice production:

Sixty two farmers (62 farmers), attended the 
training at the West Kano venue, where the farmers 
shared their success stories with the facilitators and 
other participants. The meeting was participatory, 
whereby the farmers raised questions concerning 
the challenges of poor seed quality, pest and disease 
attack, low crop yields, marketing, and policy related 
issues (e.g. effects of the devolution of agriculture 
sector on the service provision to the farmers).

Fortunately the technical team, which consisted 
of members from multiple disciplines, was able to 
provide robust answers to the issues raised by the 
farmers during the program visit. In any case, other 
issues that could not be addressed at the time of 
the program visit were referred to the home–based 
NIB/Mwea Irrigation Agricultural Development, 
WARREC and the Agricultural Extension Office.     

Farmers were encouraged to use the rotor weeders 
(10 units/scheme), which had been purchased for the 
SRI project. 

Figure 1.1: Resource persons interact with the farmers
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Mitigating challenge of soil fertility decline in rice 
production.

An environmentally friendly method of addressing 
the low yields due to soil infertility could be mitigated 
by use of biochar (carbonated husks). Briefly, the 
process of making biochar involved starting a fire 
using the husks. A chimney like structure is then 
thrust into the molding fire, with some of the fire 
remaining outside the chimney base. The un-burnt 
husks are then loaded at the base of the chimney. 
The chimney facilitates air circulation to improve the 
molding of the husks. As the husks burn, it should be 
churned with a stick to ensure proper burning until 
it turns into charcoal.  This process helps to produce 
locally made fertilizer/manure and also convert solid 
waste into usable material sustainably.

Fig. 1.2: Prof. Bancy Mati demonstrates the making of 
biochar for improved organic matter of the soil

1.4 Agriculture And Cross-Cutting Issues
1.4.1  An Integrated Agricultural Farm in 
Sagana District, Kenya

AICAD staff together with University of Tsukuba 
visiting professors conducted a visit to a prominent 
fish farmer in Sagana, Karatina District, Nyeri County, 
Kenya in February 2016.  The purpose of this visit 
was to identify intervention areas that would support 
AICAD’s quest to determine the major sources of 
Knowledge, Technologies and Innovations (KTI), 
that AICAD could apply to tackle poverty. Sources of 
KTIs include those generated through conventional 
research conducted by researchers stationed at the 
universities, and research institutes; Adaptation 

of research results that have proved to be effective 
in situations similar to the target area, and; the 
farmers themselves having conducted the research 
to generate the KTIs that suit their conditions. The 
outputs presented in this report were generated 
from the second and the third scenario, where the 
original ideas were from a research institute, but the 
fish farmer, Mr. Ndegwa also tested and modified 
the packages, to suit his unique agro-ecological and 
socio-economic conditions. It should be noted that, 
most of the farmers usually produce both the crops 
and livestock in the farm, in this way of optimizing 
the use of the available space. It should also be noted 
that most of the technologies generated from the 
technology centers, are produced for either single 
crop or livestock species. Thus learning from the 
farmers would enable AICAD to identify practical 
solutions to address farmers’ challenges better.   

The objectives of this project were two-fold, viz.: (1) 
To acquire knowledge, technologies and innovations 
that are effective on-farm, for dissemination to other 
farmers, and; (2) Identify the challenges at the farm 
thus devise appropriate solutions;

Mr. S. K. Ndegwa, the farmer, also doubled as the 
local chief in the Kariti Village in Karatina District, 
and was a famous person due to his innovative ideas. 
He operated in 5 acre piece of land, which space he 
optimally utilized. He replenished the water for the 
farm by using an engine operated pump, to draw the 
water from River Rangati in the neighbourhood.  

The farmer had established an aquaculture system, 
where he produced both the edible fish, notably, Coy, 
and the ornamental species (gold fish of different 
colors of albino, black and red). The farmer controlled 
the notorious predatory birds by stretching nets and 
strings across the ponds. Fungi and other injurious 
organisms were controlled by regularly draining the 
pond, crabbing the walls and replacing the water.

The ornamental fish had ready market within and 
outside the Karatina District, including Uganda and 
Europe. The major customers for the fish were the 
owners of big hotels and wealthy individuals, who 
maintained the fish in their aquaria for ornamental 
and beauty purposes. 
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The farmer also reared high grade dairy cattle. Waste 
from the kraal generated adequate biogas for the 
family and for soil fertility improvement;     

Bananas at the farm were healthy and well-watered 
using nutrient-rich waste water from the ponds and 
bio-waste sludge.  

The visiting AICAD and University of Tsukuba team 
concluded that the farm was in an ideal location for 
demonstrating application of the technologies for 
increasing production of crops and livestock. The 

team also identified opportunities for conducting 
biological-based and socio-economic based research, 
as required for the improvement of farmers’ income. 
The AICAD and Tsukuba University team noted the 
need to tackle the farmer’s request to be provided 
with new varieties of ornamental fish and modern 
ways of rearing and managing them. Technological 
support for production of fish species in the country 
is provided by the Kenya Marine Research Institute 
which has stations at Mombasa, Kisumu, Nairobi, 
Sagana, Baringo and Turkana among other places.

1.5 Participation In National/International 
Organizations Workshop At Jkuat

1.5.1  Development of Water Research and 
Resource Centre Strategic Plan (2016-2020): at the 
COPAS Board Room, JKUAT

AICAD and staff of the Water Research and Resource 
Centre (WARREC) participated in the development 
of the Centre’s Strategic Plan (SP) on 6th May 2016. 
The objective of the workshop was to ‘Develop a 
Strategic Plan to guide WARREC’s current and future 

Programmes’. The significance of this exercise was 
that the SP was being developed for the first time, 
since the establishment of WARREC 2010. On this 
day a Draft of the SP, prepared by Prof. Bancy Mati, 
the Director of WARREC was shared amongst the 
members.

The SP established the roadmap for WARREC 
for carrying out water research, planning and 
development in fulfillment of the objectives of 
the Kenya constitution 2010, and second Medium 

Figure1.3A: Mr. Ndegwa (Chief) explains the technique of 
rearing fish to the guest, Prof Dominic Byarugaba 

Fig 1.3B: Plastic strings stretched on top of pond of ornamental 
fish (goldfish) to keep away pests/predatory birds
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Term Plan (MTP2) and the SDGs on critical natural 
resources for the common good. The plan recognized 
the mandate of the Jomo Kenyatta University of 
Agriculture and Technology (JKUAT) in increasing 
research and innovation so as to achieve both 
national and international goals.  

Further content of the SP included: the Centre’s 
Mandate; Vision; Mission; Core values; Objectives 
and Research Priorities.  Strength, Weaknesses, 
Opportunities and Threats (SWOT); and Political, 
Economic, Social, Technological, Legal and 
Environmental (PESTLE) analyses in light of the 
project cycle. It was noted that, WARREC had over 
26 Partner Institutions, including AICAD, whose 
input were important in enabling the Centre to grow. 
In order for the Centre to operate maximally, the 
challenges of understaffing and limited operational 
space needed to be addressed, particularly after the 
adoption and declaration of SDGs. 

Eight (8) objectives of the Centre were highlighted, 
viz.: Infrastructure development; Building 

capacity and outreach; Research and Innovation; 
Resource mobilization; Partnership and linkages; 
Human resource development; and Extension and 
Technology transfer to all partners and stakeholders. 
Additionally, the report provided details on how the 
objectives mentioned above would be achieved in a 
timely manner.  

Additional information was on: Methodology of 
developing the SP; Terms of reference; inclusion 
of the Deutscher Akademischer Austausch Dienst 
(DAAD of Germany) and other major supporters of 
WARREC, and; enrichment of the Organogram for 
effective communication platforms.

The participants also reviewed the curriculum for 
the Aquaculture course for Undergraduate and 
Graduate students of JKUAT a major milestone in 
uploading outcomes. The curricula were aligned 
with the best international standards, especially with 
US universities that have excelled in the disciplines 
targeted.   

 Figure 1.4: Participants at the workshops on: WARREC 2016-2020 Strategic Plan Review
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Conclusion: 

The activities were in accordance with the Division’s 
emphasis to provide technical support to the Partner 
Institutes (PIs). The venue also provided opportunity 
for collaboration between AICAD and scientists at 
JKUAT, as required to enable the Division to align its 
programmes with those of the PIs.         

1.5.2  Collaboration between AICAD and the 
Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture, 
Bonn, Germany. 

The Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture 
(BLE), had collaborative activities on the theme of 
“Innovative approaches of food processing and 
marketing”, and goal to ‘Improve nutrition, reduce 
seasonal food insecurity, and food and nutrient losses 
and to develop supply chains in the partner countries’. 
The Director of Research and Development Dr. 
Benson Odongo, and Director of AICAD’s Tanzania 
Country Office Prof. Bendantunguka Tiisekwa, 
represented AICAD at the meeting in Germany.  

Thirty eight (38) participants (7 from Africa; 5 from 
South East Asia, and; 26 from Germany, Belgium 
and Italy) were involved in the activities, at various 

stages. Stakeholders included academic institutions, 
industrialists, business persons and policy makers. 
Focus was also providing technical support for 
smallholder and family farmers and women in the 
regions of Africa and South East Asia countries. 
Emphasis was on the use of applied research and 
promotion of locally adapted approaches for food 
processing, preservation, packaging and distribution 
(marketing and transport) and food chain analysis. 

The sponsors pledged to invest in addressing the 
priority issues through bilateral partnerships with 
the countries in the regions that participated at 
the meeting. The participants were requested to 
disseminate the information with members of their 
networks for them to develop the project proposals 
to access the funds from the German Government 
and European Union support in this area. After the 
workshop AICAD was able to share the information 
with the Partner Universities, Institutes and 
Government Line Ministries for further action. 

It remains an initiative of the partner universities, 
institutes and governments to take it to the next level 
of bilateral cooperation and conditional subventions.

Fig1.5: Introducing the objectives of the workshop; and participants attend to the discussions
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1.6 Tanzania Country Office
1.6.1  Sustainable Waste Management 

Inauguration of the Use of Bio Gas at Mawenzi 
Market, Morogoro, Tanzania

A collaborative project was implemented by the 
Department of Forestry at Sokoine University of 
Agriculture, AICAD, Mawenzi Market Vendors, 
Morogoro and the African Union’s project on ‘Clean 
and sustainable energy’. The objective of the project 
was to improve solid waste management options 
aiming at turning biodegradable wastes into energy 
in form of biogas and to promote the use of biogas 
from solid wastes as a source of energy for cooking 
to community members in addition to tidying up the 
waste production area around Mawenzi market in 
Morogoro Municipality.

The output from this project was the development 
of a solid waste processing plant, established at the 
marketplace in down town Morogoro Municipality, 
Tanzania. The biogas plant was inaugurated on 18th 
April 2016 by the Leader for Uhuru Touch Rally Mr. 
George M. Jackson. Following the inauguration, the 
Municipality was assigned to run and manage the 
biogas plant as a cheap source of energy for the entire 
market community. 

However, when AICAD conducted the monitoring 
and evaluation exercise, some challenges were 
identified, which undermined the normal operation 
of the facility. The challenges included lack of general 
care; need to beautify the place by planting ornamental 
trees close to the bio-digester; ownership wrangles, 
and general managerial concerns between the market 
vendors and the Municipality Administration. SUA 
and AICAD planned to address the issues through 
involvement of business minded entities, such as, 
private organization to manage the biogas facility and 
sell the product to obtain income to run the whole 
process. Discussions were also made into possibility of 
packaging biogas, and interacting with stakeholders 
on issues of attitude change. When these challenges 
are addressed then the project will have achieved its 
objective to contribute to poverty alleviation of the 
stakeholders particularly the increased solid waste 
management problem of fresh foods.  

The experience acquired during the development of 
this technology should be disseminated to the other 
urban centers within Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda 
given that solid waste management is a widespread 
challenge in the region and globally. In the same 
spirit, AICAD must identify the zones where similar 
interventions can be rolled out in Kenya and Uganda.

Fig 1.6. Solid waste processor plant in Mawenzi Market, Morogoro, Tanzania   
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1.6.2 Knowledge and Technology Dissemination 
Programme (KTDP)

 Low cost housing research project in Tanzania
Low cost housing is one of the research projects in 
Tanzania that was approved for dissemination by 
AICAD’s knowledge and technology dissemination 
committee in 2007. However the actual 
implementation was yet to take place. AICAD had 
planned to construct a low cost demonstration 
house at NaneNane showgrounds for the purpose of 

dissemination of the technology during NaneNane 
exhibitions. The KTDP building will be used as 
AICAD’s pervasion during exhibitions.

Current status

• The Construction of the building started in July 
2015.

• The construction of sub structure and the wall 
was completed.

• Electrical fixing went along with the wall work

Fig 1.7  The Uhuru torch during inauguration of the project – Biogas processing plant that would produce biogas to be used by 
women engaged in food vending (Mama lishe) around Mawenzi Market – Morogoro.

Fig1.8A. A model (Photo) of the Demonstration House/
AICAD pavilion when completed.

Fig 1.8B Current construction stage of the Demonstration 
House/AICAD pavilion.
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2.0 TRAINING AND EXTENSION DIVISION

2.1  Introduction
During the 2015/2016 Financial Year, the Training 
and Extension Division continued to coordinate 
and/or implement  activities revolving around the 
division’s mandate. These activities were conducted 
at both the headquarters in Juja, Kenya and at the 
country offices in Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda. At 
the headquarters, the division was able to enter into 
an agreement with UN Habitat to jointly organize 
a training course entitled “Sustainable Urban 
Development and Management Course” targeting 
mid-career Urban and County Planners throughout 
the Republic of Kenya. In addition the Kenya Country 
Office organized and implemented the fifth course in 
the series of courses under the title “Rural Women 
Empowerment”. This course was conducted in Homa 
Bay County. The Uganda Country office conducted 
their sixth Rural Women Empowerment training 
course in Gulu, northern Uganda in partnership 
with Gulu University, while the Tanzania Country 
Office conducted its seventh course on Enterprise 
development. This course was conducted at the 
Institute of Continuing Studies (ICE) of Sokoine 
University of Agriculture in Morogoro. During the 
year, the Kenya Country Office also continued to build 
upon the series of intensive interventions that had 
been initiated in Kariandusi under the Community 
Empowerment Program by addressing the need for 
access to clean drinking water through provision of 
water tanks to ten selected families. Details of these 
activities can be obtained below.

2.2 In-Country Training Courses
In-Country Training Courses (In-CTs) are designed 
to address various specific community needs. The 
needs are identified from broad themes and include 
for example, improved agricultural production, 
value addition, enterprise development, health and 
sanitation and so on. These courses may be organized 

fully by AICAD or in collaboration with partner 
organizations. During the period under reporting, 
AICAD was able to implement three In-Country 
Training courses, details of which are provided below.

2.2.1 Sustainable Urban Development and 
Management Course

The Sustainable Urban development and Management 
Course was conducted from 9th to 14th November 
2015 at AICAD headquarters in Juja. This course 
was borne out of the need to help Kenyan cities and 
counties achieve sustainable urban development that 
embraces citizen participation to strengthen local 
governance, and improve urban and county service 
delivery by among others strengthening planning, 
finances and human capabilities, and investing in 
infrastructure and service delivery improvements.

The Kenya County Government Act, 2012 provides 
that county governments will be required to develop 
plans including: Five year County Integrated 
Development Plan (CIDP), ten year programme 
based county sectoral plan as component parts of the 
CIDP, county spatial plans and cities and urban areas 
plans. This was realized by enhancing the capacity 
of the counties and the urban sector effectively 
and efficiently deliver sustainable development, 
UN-Habitat and Africa Institute for Capacity 
Development (AICAD) organized the Sustainable 
Urban Development and Management Course 
targeting mid-career Urban and County Planners 
throughout the Republic of Kenya

Objectives:
1.  Supporting county government capacities in 

Kenya to deal with challenges of urbanization 
in terms of service delivery, poverty reduction, 
and access to opportunities among others;  
   

2. Strengthening  the  institutional  capacity of 
central and county governments in sustainable 
urban development and management by 

CHAPTER 2
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training urban and county planners in the 
essential skills and approaches necessary for 
effective urban and regional development 
planning and management;

3 Ensuring that sustainable urban development 
plans are executed with keen interest and 
particular attention to the enhancement 
of equity, good governance and gender 
mainstreaming in Kenya, and with emphasis 
on the Kenyan urbanization system strategy; 
and

4. Creating a forum in which urban and 
county planners can exchange views and 
experiences, thereby promoting networking 
among relevant institutions and personnel 
involved in sustainable urban development 
and planning in Kenya.

Training Modules
Each of the modules were summarized in different 
training sessions by resource persons that were 
drawn from diverse institutions including United 
Nations, government, universities , civil society, 
private sector  and other multilateral agencies.  The 
5 modules were:

Module 1: Contemporary Issues in Sustainable 
Development: This module exposed the participants 
to international urban and regional planning and 
development frameworks and guidelines. It also 
discussed the implication of these guidelines and 
frameworks to regional, county and urban and 
planning in the country. 

Module 2: Concepts and Issues of Urban and Regional 
Development: The module covered the concepts and 
theories of regional development, rationale for and 
underlying themes of regional development planning 
and management. The purpose of this module was 
to expose the participants to current and emerging 
issues of regional development.

Module 3: County Planning for Sustainable 
Development in Kenya: The module also looked at 
the interface of the different plans and the relevant 
institutional set ups and development that would 

enhance county plans preparation and sustainable 
development in Kenya.

Module 4: Governance and Financing 
Development in Counties: This module aimed at 
equipping county planners with requisite knowledge 
on revenue county revenue enhancement and 
management for local economic development and 
poverty reduction.

Where resources are so stretched and the outcomes 
so critical we need to ensure that decisions are made 
as optimally and in as timely a manner as possible 
and result in development that is truly sustainable.

Module 5: Special Issues in Management of 
Sustainable and Development: The main focus of 
this module was on various issues in management 
of sustainable development including environment, 
natural resource management, disaster and risks 
management, role of agriculture, human security, 
conflict and their impacts on county development.

The immediate outputs were:
i. Human capacity building and development

ii. Institutional capacity building and shared 
resources

iii. Sharing /Exchange of ideas and experiences 
at institutional and organizational levels

The response from County Governments was 
extremely encouraging and provided justification 
for upscaling the course to accommodate capacity 
interests for different county government staff. The 
county governments affirmed the relevance and 
need for the Sustainable Urban Development and 
Management Course to their efforts in serving well 
planned urban systems.

As a way forward, a comprehensive database of all 
Sustainable Urban Development and Management 
Training Course participants has been developed.  
An alumni association is in the process of being 
formed and will be expanded over the years.  The 
objective of the network will be to enhance sharing of 
information, experiences and practices to better cope 
with county development problems and challenges 
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especially with modern social media platforms to 
facilitate fast answers to problems and challenges. 
 
A newsletter was published in conjunction with 
UN Habitat. This had three goals:  (1) to strengthen 
linkages among development planning personnel 
in the Counties; (2) to facilitate alumni members in 
sharing experiences and information by publishing 
their profiles, experiences in current and emerging 
issues in urban development and planning as well as 
career movements; and (3) to serve as a medium for 
disseminating information on on-going activities at 
the County offices.

This course was a partnership between AICAD 
and UN Habitat and brought together twenty five 
(25) participants from seventeen (17) counties in 
Kenya including Baringo, Bomet, Bungoma, Elgeyo 
Marakwet, Homabay, Kakamega, Kericho, Kisii, 
Kitui, Makueni,  Mandera,  Murang’a, Nairobi, Siaya, 
Turkana, Uasin Gishu and Wajir.

2.2.2 Fifth In-country Training on Rural Women 
Empowerment, Homa Bay Sub-county, Kenya 

Baseline Survey

This baseline survey was conducted in Homa Bay 
Sub-county of Homabay County from 25th April 
to 27th April 2016 by the KCO team; the Assistant 
Country Director, Mr. Joseph Mwenda, and the 
Programs Officer, Mr. Geofrey Rotich. The major 
objectives of the survey were to:
(i) To collect relevant data related to resources 

available, economic activities and the problems 
faced by the target community.

(ii) To assess the training needs of women in the 
target community.

(iii) To identify participants for Rural Women 
Empowerment Training 

Qualitative and quantitative methods were used 
to generate as much information as necessary for 
assessing the baseline situation. Purposive sampling 

was used as a sampling technique for this survey. 
Active members of women groups were first obtained 
to participate in the study using a list provided by 
agricultural field officers.  Seven women groups with 
a total number of 54 respondents participated in the 
survey. 

The main instruments for data collection were 
structured questionnaires administered to 
individuals within the selected groups. The 
questionnaire captured the background information, 
economic activities carried out in the area, group 
activities, and training aspects which included 
previous training and what content they would like 
to be included in the training. Other methods used 
were Document Review, In-depth Key Informant 
Interviews, and Focused Group Discussions. Key 
Informant Interviews (KII) were used to validate 
the information obtained from the structured 
questionnaire and Focus Group Discussions. The key 
informant Interviews were carried out with the sub-
county agricultural officer and three other sub-county 
agricultural officers’ in-charge of agribusiness, crops 
and engineering in the area respectively. Document 
reviewed for this survey was the sub-county profile 
and the Kenya National Bureau for Statistics (KNBS, 
2013).

Key findings of the survey were then documented. 
One of the objectives of this survey was the selection 
of participants for the fifth in-country on   rural 
women empowerment and identification of a suitable 
venue for the training. It was envisaged that a total 
of 20 rural women would be drawn for the training 
using a set criteria which included diversity in 
group activities, age composition, willingness and 
availability to attend the training, level of education 
and training needs. A total of 20 women were 
identified as participants for the training based on 
the criteria set.
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Training Implementation

This training was conducted at Bishop Lawi 
Academy, Rodi Kopany, Homa Bay Sub-County, 
Homa Bay County. It ran from 13th-24th June. It 
targeted rural women from Homa Bay Sub County. 
The participants were drawn from seven women 
groups from the four wards that make up the Homa 
Bay Sub-county of Homa Bay County. These are, 
Homa Bay Central Ward, Arujo Ward, Homa Bay 
East Ward and Homa Bay West ward. This course 
targeted rural women who were active in their 
respective groups. A total of 20 women trainees of 
mixed age and educational background participated 
in the training. The course was intended to expose 
the participants to issues of gender and human rights, 
equip participants to health living and proper home 
care management, equipped the participants with 
skills in group management, savings and credit as well 
as competencies for engaging in successful income 
generating activities. In addition, it sought to train 
the participants on competitiveness and profitability 
of value added products through capacity building for 

farm-based produce as well as livestock production. 
The resource persons were drawn from the pool of 
experts from Egerton University, Maseno University, 
Moi University and Ministry of Agriculture and 
Livestock, Kenya.

The closing ceremony was held on Friday 24th June 
2016. It was attended by Prof. Dominic Byarugaba as 
the Chief Guest, KCO Country Director Prof. Alice 
Kamau, Dr. Benson Odongo (A&F Director) Mr. 
Patrick Wakhu (T&E Director) and the KCO staff. 
The Chief Guest emphasized the need for a paradigm 
shift in the way trainings are conducted and the 
need for exchange programs for the beneficiaries. 
He challenged the participants to go and replicate 
what they had learnt in their respective groups from 
which they were drawn. He finally requested AICAD 
Headquarter to extend hand of support in availing 
cassava cuttings to the Homa Bay Group as per their 
request in comparison to their neighbours in Rongo 
to increase food security and stability at household 
level. 

Fig 2.1 Mr. Joseph Mwenda, the ACD-KCO and Mr. Geoffrey Rotich the Program Officer with members of Ademba Women group during the baseline survey 
in Homa Bay
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2.2.3 The Seventh In-Country Training Course 
on Enterprise Development, Morogoro, Tanzania

Introduction

The AICAD-Tanzania Country Office conducted 
the seventh in-country training course on 
Enterprise Development from 19th to 31st May 
2016 at the Kilimo Office’s Hall of Morogoro 
Municipality. The course targeted small-scale 
entrepreneurs who are already practicing small-
scale informal businesses within the municipality 
of Morogoro. The participants were drawn from 
three wards of Kihonda, Kichangani and Sabasaba. 
The enterprise development course aimed at 
strengthening entrepreneurial qualities and 
business management practices of those already 
in the informal sector. The skills gained from this 
course are expected to help small entrepreneurs to 
improve the way of doing business effectively and 
enable them to run business profitably.

Course preparation

The course preparation involved Reconnaissance 
Survey, Baseline Survey and Resource Persons 
workshop.

Reconnaissance survey
A reconnaissance survey was conducted in the 
target area from 20th to 22nd April 2016. The first 
activity was to hold a meeting with the Morogoro 
Municipal Director on 20th April 2016. The aim of 
the meeting was to discuss the intension of AICAD-
TCO to conduct the Enterprise Development 
Training and to seek collaboration. The Municipal 
Director was pleased and agreed to contribute 
towards the cost of the training by offering the 
venue for the training. There after AICAD-TCO 
staff visited the ward leaders of the selected wards 
from where the participants were drawn.

Fig 2.2A: The Chief Guest-Prof. Byarugaba 
addresses the participants during the closing 
ceremony of ICT 5                                                                  

Fig 2.2B: The Chief Guest, divisional directors and 
other guests listening to one participant-Beatrice 
as she explains what she had learnt on value 
addition.
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Baseline Survey

AICAD-TCO conducted baseline survey as part of 
the preparation of In-CT7- ED. This activity was 
conducted from 3rd to 5th May 2016; it involved 
conducting interviews with the community 
members who had shown interest in attending the 
training by submitting the application letters to the 
Ward Executive Officer in Mororgoro Municipality. 
Three wards within Morogoro Municipality were 
identified by TCO for selection of participants. A 
total of 58 people were interviewed in three wards 
of Sabasaba, Kihonda and Kichangani. Out of 58 
applicants, 30 participants were selected for the 
training.

Fig 2.3: AICAD Staff conducting interviews 
during participants’ selection exercise.

Resource Persons Workshop

On 10th May AICAD-TCO conducted a workshop for 
resource persons who were to facilitate the training. 
The purpose of the workshop was to bring together 
all the resource persons so as to explain the objective 
of the course, discuss and agree on the modalities   of 
conducting the training, in order for resource persons 
to be able to deliver the materials to the participants 
as per AICAD’s training modules. Five resource 
persons were invited, two of them came from School 
of Business of Mzumbe University, and the other 
two came from School of Agricultural Economics 
and Business Studies of Sokoine University of 
Agriculture and the last one came from the Small 
Industry Development Organization (SIDO).

List of the resource persons and guest speakers who facilitated the training

S/N Name of the resource 
person Institution Contact

1 Mr. Hamad Mahamud Sokoine University of Agriculture Tel. +255 767 468 686. Email:Ngaiza1511@yahoo.com 

2 Mr. Joseph Masimba Sokoine Universities of Agriculture Tel. +255 713 516 898. Email: jose.massimba1@gmail.com

3 Mr. Robert Makorere Mzumbe University Tel: +255 769 381 231. Email: rfmakorere@mzumbe.ac.tz

4 Mr. Fransis Relagonya Mzumbe University +255712 059 402. Email: frilagonya8@gmail.com

5 Ms. Jackline Mbawala SIDO +255 767 322 907

6. Athuman M. Kikwete PPF – Pension Fund +255 767 488 856

7 Festus Herman Morogoro Municipal Council +255 754 686 209

8 Dotto Tollilo RAHA Leo Food Processors +255 754 556 407
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Fig 2.4: The Country Director, Prof Tiisekwa Explaining the 
Objectives of the training to resource persons.

Apart from the five resource persons, there were 
invited guest speakers who supplemented what 
the resource persons taught by giving practical 
testimonies and other relevant information which 
would help the participants improve their businesses. 
The guest speakers came from PPF Pension Fund, 
Morogoro Municipality (Trade Officer), successful 
Entrepreneurs who got trained by AICAD in 
previous training courses and a representative from 
SIDO.

Training Implementation.

Opening of the training

The training started on 19th May 2016 and was 
officially opened by the District Commissioner of 
Morogoro District Hon. Ruhingo Rweyemamu. The 
Morogoro Municipal Director was also invited. She 
was represented by the Head of the Department of 
Agriculture of Morogoro Municipality Mr. Michael 
Waluse.

Fig 2.5: The country Director Prof. Tiisekwa giving the 
opening remarks

  

Fig 2.6: A Group photo of participants  with the Chief 
Guest Hon Muhingo Rweyemamu – DC Morogoro. 

Coverage of the training
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The training covered modules on Business Basics, 
Business Planning, Business Management, Social 
and Personal aspects of Business, Risk Identification 
and Management and Action Planning. It also 
involved field study visits to relevant sites to help 
participants acquire the principles they have learnt 
in class and to get experience from successful 
entrepreneurs. Generally, the course was carried 
out in such a way that participants could relate 
information that they have gained in class to their 
own experiences in business. 

Fig 2.7: A Guest speaker – One of successful Ex-AICAD 
trainee speaking to the participants

Closing of the course

The training was conducted for 11 days and all the 
participants were awarded AICAD’s certificates for 
successful completion of the In-CT7-ED course. A 
closing ceremony was held at the end of the course 
on 31st May 2016. Deputy Permanent Secretary in 
the Ministry of Education, Science, Technology and 
Vocational Training, Prof. Simon Msanjila was the 
Chief Guest. 

Fig 2.8:  Chief Guest Prof. Msanjila giving his closing 
remarks (left) and a participant receiving AICAD 
certificate of completion(right) 
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2.2.4 The Sixth In-Country Training (In-CT) on 
Rural Women Empowerment, Mbarara District, 
Uganda

Introduction

The 6th In-Country Training (In-CT) on Rural 
Women Empowerment was conducted by African 
Institute for Capacity Development (AICAD) 
Uganda Country Office in collaboration with Gulu 
University Faculty of Agriculture and Environment 
at Gulu Town Primary School from 25th April – 2nd 
May 2016. The course was attended by 20 trainees 
sponsored by AICAD and selected from 10 groups in 
Gulu District, Northern Uganda. 

The trainees were representing women groups that 
had demonstrated the potential to start or expand 
agriculture enterprises for income generation.  The 
selection was conducted by a combined team of 
AICAD staff in consultation with Gulu University 
Faculty of Agriculture and Environment staff-led 
by the coordinator for University outreach. Priority 
was given to representatives of groups that needed 
to improve on their skills in production beyond food 
security but also yearning for improvement of their 
house hold incomes.  Two participants were selected 
from each of the identified ten groups, specifically 
those that were already relating with Gulu University 
under the Universities’ Outreach Program. AICAD 
hopes to liaise with these participants for future 
follow-up and support.  The groups also included 
some of the Groups that AICAD had earlier supported 
under the University Outreach Program.

The general aim of the training course was to enhance 
rural women’s potential to engage in profitable income 
generating activities for improved livelihoods.

The specific objectives were to:

1. To impart skills and knowledge on environment 
management in the context of climate change 
to improve women’s ability to reduce related 
disasters and mitigation of possible related 
impacts.

2. To impart skills and knowledge to rural 
women farmers to enhance overall agricultural 
productivity, and efficiency, for improved rural 
incomes, wealth and household food security.

3. To impart skills to the rural women to enable 
them lead healthy lives and reduce disease-
related poor community health management.

4. Improve participant’s capacity in production of 
high value crops focusing on selected vegetables, 
fruits and medicinal plants that are adaptable to 
their context. 

5.  To equip rural women with skills that enhance 
entrepreneurial competences to enable them 
engage in productive economic activities and 
enhance their access to fair markets.

At the beginning of the training, the participants were 
asked to indicate what they expected to gain from the 
course. They listed the following expectations. 

i) To gain knowledge on management of 
businesses and other enterprises for income 
generation

ii) To expand network with new friends.
iii) To learn how to get women empowered.
iv) To learn how to take care of environment and 

businesses.
v) To enhance their skills.
vi) To enhance their knowledge and skills in 

agriculture management.
vii) To obtain training on production, selling and 

marketing
viii) To learn about hygiene. 
ix) To learn about water resources.
x) To get a refund on their transport expenses 

and be paid other allowances.

A total of 7 modules were covered over a period 
of 8 days. The modules included Environment and 
integrated water resources management, Livestock 
production, Community Health, Production of high 
value crops, Enterprise development, reproductive 
health and home management. The resource persons 
were sourced from Gulu University Faculties of 
Agriculture and Environment and; Medicine. 

The course which was facilitated by Resource Persons 
from Gulu University Faculty of Agriculture and 
Environment and Faculty of Medicine involved 
practical sessions on apiary and cuniculture at the 
Gulu University agriculture demonstration facility. 
These sessions helped the trainees appreciate the 
practicability and application of some of the skills 
and practices they learnt. 
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At the end of the course, the all participants expressed 
their appreciation and rated it as very effective.  All 
the ten groups had identified an enterprise that they 
would take forward in their group. Nine of the ten 
groups were interested in rabbits and ginger, two 
groups in carrots while one group intended to pursue 
beekeeping, production of mangoes and oranges 
alongside rabbits.

Closing

The course was closed by the Deputy Vice Chancellor 
Gulu University Prof. George Ladaah Openjuru on 
2nd May 2016, who also presided over the issuing of 
certificates. 

2.3 Community Empowerment Program 
2.3.1 Introduction

The Community Empowerment Program (CEP) is 
a community oriented program targeting selected 
community groups in specific areas using multiple 
interventions simultaneously with particular 
emphasis on community participation towards 
socio-economic development. AICAD initiated 
implementation of CEP in the three AICAD member 
countries of Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda according 
to a basic approach that involves (i) selection 
of the target (model) region (ii) baseline survey 
(iii) participatory planning (iv) project selection 
and formulation (v) project implementation (vi) 
monitoring and evaluation. During the year under 
reporting, the Kenya Country Office continued to 
carry out a number of activities in the selected region 
at Kariandusi, Nakuru County. These activities were 
related to water harvesting and management project 
and are reported below.

2.3.2 Implementation of The Ngong Village Water 
harvesting project by the Kenya Country Office

During the reporting year 2015/2016, the roof water 
harvesting project was implemented with a total of 
25 households receiving 3000litre tanks each. Ngong 
village was selected for this project because it has 
limited access to drinking water as Kariandusi River 
and the hot spring are very far from Ngong village.   
This situation is the cause of a serious social problem 
particularly for women and girls who have to travel 
long distances to fetch water; consequently, time is 

wasted which could be allocated for other socio-
economic activities and this impacts negatively on 
school attendance for the young girls. The water in 
the hot spring also has higher level of fluoride than 
the WHO recommended level of 1.5mg/l. The High 
fluoride level in water has resulted in ill- health of the 
population in Ngong village which include brown 
decaying teeth, severe skeletal fluorosis and chronic 
renal failure.

The Ngong Village Water harvesting project has the 
following objectives 

(a) Provide the beneficiaries with safe drinking water 
through provision of water tanks.

(b) Reduce the time beneficiaries spend in fetching 
water from distant sources.

This project was implemented through the following 
phases and activities between July 2015 and April 
2016:

2.3.3 Phase one-Gutters and platform installation 
inspection

The KCO staff carried out the first monitoring visit 
on 25th and 26th August 2015 to establish the status 
of gutters and platform installation by the beneficiary 
households. The second visit was conducted on 29 
September 2015. The eleven (11) beneficiaries who 
had fulfilled the criteria for the platform and gutters 
construction were informed of the preparation to 
receive the tanks.

2.3.4 Phase one- Rain water harvesting tanks hand 
over

Eleven (11) households received 3000 litres tank each. 
This activity was conducted on the 16th October 2015. 
The occasion to hand over the tanks was presided 
over by the Executive Director of AICAD, Prof. 
Andrew Gidamis together with the Director of Water 
and Natural Resources from the County Government 
of Nakuru, the Country Director-Kenya Office,  the 
area MCA and the sub county administrator among 
others. The chief guest and other invited guests 
implored the beneficiaries to take good care of the 
tanks they had received and put them into proper 
use. 
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2.3.5 Phase two- Beneficiary identification and 
selection

Participatory identification and selection of 
beneficiaries was conducted in liaison with Ngong 
community leaders and KCO staff. This was done on 
10th February 2016 using set criteria. The qualifying 
criteria for potential beneficiaries included the 
following:
• Willingness to contribute for Gutters and tank 

stand platforms

• In possession of Iron sheet roofed houses

• Households that do not have tanks

• Households living with the disabled family 
members

• Aged individuals both male and females

• Poorest households of the community

The identified beneficiaries were also given 
instructions on tank pre-installation requirements 
and specifications.

During the meeting, a list of 14 members of Ngong 
village was obtained by KCO for consideration 
as potential beneficiaries. However, the identified 
beneficiaries were informed of a household 
assessment that will follow to assess their suitability 
as project beneficiaries.

2.3.6 Phase two- Gutters and platform installation 
monitoring

The identified beneficiaries were expected to 
construct the platform for the tanks and install the 
gutters as part of their contribution to the project. 
The KCO team of the ACD and Programs Officer 
undertook the monitoring exercise to ensure that the 
beneficiaries had adhered to the regulations before 
receiving the tanks. This exercise was conducted 
on 18th March 2016 and 31st March 2016. All the 14 
beneficiaries met the requirements and were ready to 
receive the water tanks.

Fig 2.9: The Program Officer, Mr. Geoffrey Rotich with a beneficiary during the tank stand monitoring exercise.
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2.3.7 Phase two-Handing over of tanks

The function of distribution and handing over water 
tanks for the second phase of Ngong Roof Water 
Harvesting was conducted on Wednesday 13 April, 
2016 in Ngong village. The chief guest of honour 
during the ceremony was Prof. Andrew Gidamis, 
the Executive Director AICAD. Others in attendance 
were the representative of the Member of Parliament, 
Gilgil Constituency, Mr. Muhuhe, KCO County 
Director Prof. Alice Kamau, Area MCA,
Hon. Jane Wangui, Gilgil Sub-county administrator, 
Mr. Yatich, Kikopey assistant Chief Mr. Mbare, 
AICAD staff, beneficiaries and the general public. 
Speaking during the handover ceremony, Prof. 
Gidamis commended the Kenya Country Office for 
ensuring the realization of the project. He thanked 

all stakeholders for attending the handover ceremony 
which demonstrated the importance they attached to 
the project. Prof. Gidamis also urged the
central and county government to support AICAD 
in its endeavor to mitigate the problem of flourosis in 
Kariandusi including deflorination of water in Maji-
Moto Hot spring which supplies water to the majority 
of residents of the area. The Executive Director also 
asked previous and current beneficiaries to erect 
sheds for the water tanks to insulate them against 
direct heat from the sun. A total of fourteen (14) 
beneficiaries received 3000litres capacity water tank 
each, complete with an overflow pipe and a tap during 
the handover ceremony. The beneficiaries thanked 
AICAD for the support and promised to utilize the 
tanks for the intended purpose. 

Fig 2.10 The Executive Director AICAD, Prof. Andrew Gidamis and other guests pose for a photo with the beneficiaries of the rain water harvesting tanks.
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3.0  INFORMATION, NETWORK AND 
DOCUMENTATION DIVISION

3.1 Introduction
The IN&D Division is responsible for collecting, 
processing, storing, retrieving and disseminating 
information at AICAD. The division does this in 
collaboration with the rest of the divisions namely 
R&D, T&E, and A&F

The activities carried out by the division for the 
period of 2015-2016 are reported below.

3.2 Publications 
One Newsletter was published during 2015-2016. 
Also published is annual report 2014-2015.

3.3 Activities undertaken at the Uganda Country 
Office

Under IN&D Uganda Country Office participated 
in the 23rd Annual Source of the Nile National 
Agricultural and Trade Show in Jinja, Uganda. The 
show was organized by the Uganda National Farmers 
Federation from 6th to 13th July, 2015. The show was 
a platform for disseminating innovations in the 
agriculture, engineering, trade and other sectors 
by individual farmers, farmer groups, international 
organizations and private companies operating 
in Uganda. This was achieved through displaying 
improved technologies for better production and 
marketing geared towards poverty reduction and 
improving household incomes. The show was also a 
platform for exhibitors to sell their items, technologies 
and show-case their innovations. 

The AICAD-UCO put up a tent where various 
items were displayed by the office as well as by the 

ex-trainees. The UCO displayed a number of items, 
including reports on various trainings such as value 
addition, enterprise development, piggery and 
irrigation technologies, as well as AICAD newsletters 
for 2014 and 2015. Newsletters were given out to most 
of the people who visited the AICAD tent as a way of 
creating awareness and disseminating information 
on the various activities implemented by the UCO 
and AICAD in general. All people who visited the 
AICAD tent were encouraged to sign the visitors’ 
book for record purposes.

During the exhibition, AICAD staff explained to 
visitors what AICAD is all about, including its 
objectives, the various programmes conducted by 
the UCO, the national coverage and the impact so far 
made. The UCO staff also explained to the visitors 
the various programmes implemented by AICAD, 
such as the Community Empowerment Programme 
(CEP), Knowledge and Technology Dissemination 
Programme (KTDP), Training and Extension as well 
as Information Networking and Documentation. 
They also explained the various training programmes 
conducted by AICAD, both the In-Country Training 
(ICT) and the Grass Root Training (GRT) courses. 
These include Value Addition, Irrigation and Water 
Resources Management, Enterprise Development, 
Rural Women Empowerment, Piggery and Poultry 
farming, among others. The UCO AICAD staff 
explained how it collaborates with partners 
particularly Public Universities and their roles in 
disseminating knowledge and technologies generated 
by researchers to the communities. 

The Uganda Country office supported four ex-trainees 
to participate in the exhibition. These represented 
four enterprise groups of KABS Food Enterprise, 
Nkokonjeru Area Enterprise, Kasper Fruit and Wine 
Producers and the Namanve Pottery project. 

CHAPTER 3
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Jinja Show Grounds

Under Information Networking and Documentation 
(IN&D), Uganda Country office participated in the 
23rd Annual Source of the Nile National Agricultural 
and Trade Show in Jinja.  The show was organized 
by the Uganda National Farmers Federation (UNFF) 
from 6th-13th July 2015. The show was a platform for 
disseminating innovations in the agricultural, trade 
and other sectors by individual farmers, farmer 
groups, and local and international organizations and 
companies. This was achieved through displaying 
improved technologies for better production and 
marketing geared towards poverty eradication and 
improving household incomes. The show was also a 
platform for exhibitors to sell their items. 

The following achievements were registered.

1. Show cased the activities and programmes of 
AICAD-UCO to wider spectrum

2. Identified potential community partners in the 
various training courses

3. Got feedback from communities on the impact 
of interventions that were carried by AICAD 
previously in light of the National planning 
agenda.

4. Promoted the image of AICAD to the beneficiary 
Ugandan population.

5. Enhanced the exposure of AICAD x-trainees to 
give a multiplier effect on a heavily and packed 
Agriculture show at Jinja.

3.4 Activities undertaken at the Tanzania Country 
Office

AICAD – TCO participated in the Farmers’ Exhibition 
commonly known as ‘Nanenane Exhibitions’.  
During Nanenane exhibition AICAD TCO got an 
opportunity to publicize itself by sharing with the 
public about AICAD’s Vision and Mission and its 
achievements so far. AICAD TCO staff also got an 
opportunity to learn from the public’s comments and 
suggestions for improvement of programmes and 
activities. 

The other purpose of participating in the Nanenane 
Exhibition was to support the ex-trainees and 
the community empowerment group members 
to promote their products and sell some of their 
products. In the 2015 Nanenane exhibitions AICAD 
- TCO supported three groups namely HKT Mama 
Kwanza women group of Kibaha, Maching Guys 
group of Dar es salaam and Raha  Leo Group Food 
Products – Morogoro to exhibit the products.

3:1 The Second Vice President of 
the Revolutionary Government of 
Zanzibar, Ambassador Seif Idd (In 
Suit) buying  products displayed by 
Ex-trainees, after being briefed on 
AICAD activities in Tanzania.     
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4.0 ADMINISTRATION AND FINANCE 
DIVISION 

4.1 Introduction
The Administration and Finance Division (A&F) 
Division is pleased to share with its esteemed readers 
information on the divisional activities during the 
period from July 2015 to June 2016. It is important 
to point out, from the outset, that the period covered 
by this report was a financially difficult one for 
AICAD. However, the Institute waded through the 
challenges, in this way demonstrating a strong spirit 
of resilience, thanks to the support obtained from the 
stakeholders and determination of the staff. However, 
the situation described above affected the levels of 
implementation of some of the project activities and 
programmes. In attempts to mitigate the challenges, 
AICAD Management, endeavored to present the case 
to the parent Ministry of Education within the three 
countries. A second hurdle faced at this time was the 
severe water shortage, due to the disconnection by 
the JKUAT management of the shared water resource, 
due to AICAD’s failure to pay for her proportion of 
the cost for pumping and treating the water. This 
problem persisted despite the joint discussions held 
between the management of the two Institutes. The 
issue pushed AICAD to look for alternative water 
sources, which included: connecting the Institute 
water line to that of the Ruiru Town water supply 
and; buying of water from water tank suppliers. The 
management’s long term view suggests that, in order 
to overcome the problem, there was need to involve 
the senior officials- at hierarchy of the Permanent 
Secretary of the Ministry of Education- to negotiate 
for reconnection with the AICAD-JKUAT line, and; 
by also try to tap and store water collected from the 
AICAD’s roof tops. 

The parts of the report below cover other 
administrative and financial matters at the institute, 
notably issues of staffing, and income generation viz.: 

4.2 Human Resource Management         
4.2.1  Departures

The period experienced turnover of three (3) 
members of staff, two of whom were based at the 
AICAD Headquarters at Juja, and one member from 
Tanzania Country Office. Following the creation of 
the vacancies indicated above, either new staff had 
to be recruited, internal restructuring done to make 
sure roles do not come to a halt.

Dr. Samwel. Werema, who was the substantive 
Director of Administration and Finance (A&F), 
based at the Headquarters, tendered in his resignation 
on 29th Feb. 2016. He had joined AICAD on 2nd 
July 2007. Samwel returned to his home country, 
Tanzania, where he got employment as the Deputy 
Director, Planning, Finance and Administration at 
the Institute of Accountancy in Arusha. 

Ms A. Kiiti Mwikali, the Office Administrator (OA) 
based at the Headquarters, resigned from the service. 
She also opted for another job, which she felt was 
commensurate with her academic qualification. The 
duration of her service at AICAD was from 1st August 
2013 to 29th August 2016. 

Mr. Hosaid Nyamoga, the Tanzania Country Office 
(TCO) driver resigned on 5th January 2016 and 
joined Sokoine University of Agriculture in the same 
capacity. Hosaid had earlier joined AICAD on 30th 
May 2014. 

CHAPTER 4
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4.2.2 Recruitments/Redeployments

Mr. Joseph Mwenda Kimani -Assistant Country Director, Kenya

Mr. Joseph Mwenda Kimani was appointed on 1 September 2015, as the Assistant 
Country Director, Kenya. Prior to taking up the job with AICAD, Joseph had 
acquired more than ten (10) years’ experience, while working with multi-sectoral 
and cultural programming on aspects of Community Development, Management 
and Leadership, Education, Primary Health Care, Psychosocial Support, Protection, 
Livelihoods and Food Security in Southern Sudan. He has an excellent track record 
of planning, implementation, performance management, monitoring and evaluation 
of projects. He had also worked with various international NGOs- CARE 
International in Kenya; World Vision Kenya, and; World Vision International. He 

was also a lecturer in the department of Psychology, Counseling and Educational Foundation in Egerton 
University. Joseph’s academic background includes Master of Education-Guidance and Counseling Psychology 
(Egerton University), and Bachelor of Education from the same University. The experience gained while working 
with the national and international development sectors, brings value to AICAD in its commitment to poverty 
reduction in Africa.

Mr.  Richard Ngimbwa
Was recruited as a driver at TCO on 4th April 2016.  He had replaced Mr. Hosaid 
who had resigned three months earlier.

Dr. Benson Odongo – Ag A&F Director

Following the resignation of Dr. Werema, as mentioned in the previous paragraphs, 
the Governing Board reassigned Dr Odongo, to take over the responsibility of A&F 
Director, serving in Acting capacity. He would add this assignment to his docket of 
R&D Director.

Ms Njoki Jane 
Was assigned the duty of Ag. Office Administrator, in order to fill in the gap created 
by Ms. A. Kiiti’s departure. This was an added responsibility to her portfolio at the 
Front Desk Office.    
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4.2.3 Staff Development 

During the year in reporting, the Director of A&F 
attended a training on Credit/Debt Management and 
Collections in Nairobi from 24th to 25th September 
2015; the Directors of R&D, T&E and attended 
E-Waste Training Conference in Nairobi from 17th 
to 19th February 2016, while the Internal Editor 
attended a training on Case ware Africa Seminar for 
Accountants and Auditors on 25th February 2016 in 
Nairobi.  The Institute’s Accountant attended a Budget 
Review Seminar organized by ICPAK on training on 
14th June 2016. 
All the above activities are in line with AICAD’s 
efforts to build its internal capacity for efficient 
service delivery so as to achieve its mission of linking 
knowledge to application within communities in 
order to reduce poverty in partner countries in 
Africa.

4.3 Facilities Use
The A&F Division manages the Institute’s facilities 
namely: Guesthouse, Computer Laboratories, 
Seminar Rooms, Assembly Hall, Fitness Centre and 
the   Cyber Café.  Information about these facilities 
is available at the Institute’s website: www.aicad-taku.
org. 

During the reporting year, different organizations 
within and outside Kenya utilized the AICAD 
facilities for different purposes.  The following 
groups used AICAD facilities over the reporting 
period, viz.: SRBS-JKUAT, University of Finland, 
ESRI Eastern Africa Ltd; East Africa Grain Council; 
JKUAT Greeninsect Project; Nairobi INDUSTRIAL 
& Tech Park C/o ChintanShinde; The Pan African 
Institute for Basic Science, Technology and 
Innovation (PAUSTI); JKUAT; SRISTI workshop; 
Kirinyaga University; KCAA/EASA; Kiambu 
County; Center for Health Solutions (CHS); Bean 
Project Conference; DVC Academic Affairs, JKUAT; 
JKUAT Landscape Architecture Dept/Architectural 
Society of Kenya, Inspur Guests, UNESCO, JKUAT 
Scientific conference; JKUATES/KRA; Ministry 
of Lands, Sorghum Value Chain Dev.; AICAD/
UN-Habitat (Sustainable Urban Development & 
Management Training; Coretec, ICIPE/JKUAT/MoH 
& CERNVEC; Watercap and Shanghai Construction 
Group; Fountain of Life; Ministry of Environment; 

PACN; KCAA/EASA; ITECH; JICA; Bright Project; 
Kibabii University; JKUAT STAC’s Dept; Governing 
Board (AICAD; Bright Path Meeting (Dr. Sila); and; 
Cooper’s/JKUAT. AICAD management is grateful 
to the clients for the support in this time of stiff 
competition.

Lastly but not least, unfortunately, at this time, the 
Fitness Centre and Cyber Café, the other facilities 
AICAD uses for income generation, were closed for 
an indefinite period, due to shortage of water in the 
building.  Efforts are underway to revamp, renovate 
and negotiate water that was cut off by JKUAT.

AICAD’s facilities are available to the public for hire at 
open competitive market rates. Further information 
about the facilities can be accessed at the website: 
www.aicad-taku.org. 

The Division also manages service providers within 
AICAD premises. These are Royal Grill Caterers 
which provides cafeteria services; In-Africa 
Gardening; OneWay Cleaning Services; Straight 
Security, and; and Comzols which runs the Fitness 
Centre and Cyber Café. 

Besides managing the facilities for IGAs, the 
Division also manages service providers within 
AICAD premises, notably, the Royal Grill Caterers 
which provides cafeteria services; In-Africa 
Gardening; One Way Cleaning Services, and; the 
Straight Security. 

4.4 Governing Board Meetings
The following Committees of the Governing 
Board (GB) convened meetings at the AICAD 
Headquarters on the indicated dates viz.: The 
4th Technical Committee (TC) met on 29th Feb 
2016; 4th Administration, Finance and Planning 
Committee met on 1st March 2016; on 2nd March 
2016, the meeting for the Annual General Meeting 
(AGM) took place; the 17th Governing Board 
meeting was held on 3rd March 2016. In addition, 
a conference touching on AICAD’s core thematic 
functions were also held under the theme of ‘AICAD 
collaborative conference cutting edge research and 
knowledge application in Society’ was held by the 
representatives of AICAD’s participating Institutes 
from Kenya Uganda and Tanzania.  
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During the year under report, AICAD invited some 
researchers and collaborators to make presentations 
to inform the Governing Board members about 
AICAD’s key mandate areas. The following five 
presentations were made, viz:

4.4.1 Promoting the SRI at Smallholder level in 
Eastern Uganda

This presentation which was made by R. W. Odogola 
of Busitema University department of Agricultural 
Engineering, Uganda highlighted the AICAD 
sponsored project on the promoting of system of rice 
intensification (SRI) in five districts (Bugiri, Busia, 
Iganga, Kibuku and Tororo) of Eastern Uganda. It 
was noted that Africa, accounted for only 3% of the 
global rice production. Thus the project objective 
was to increase rice production in Uganda in 
particular and Africa in general. The intervention 
was addressing the major challenges faced by rice 
farmers, by designing plows and planters, as a way 
of fast-tracking mechanization of rice farming in 
Uganda. The project also trained undergraduate and 
graduate students, and worked together with farmers, 
in order to enhance human capacity development. 
The project ensured that the stakeholders were able 
to connect the theory to practice and application. 

4.4.2 Food-Water-Energy Nexus

This presentation by Prof. Noble Banadda, 
Makerere University, Uganda highlighted diverse 
contemporary changes taking place across the world, 
notably, climate change, population growth, global 
disease trends, reduction in food production, energy 
needs at domestic and industrial levels, recycling 
technology and rural urban migration, which were 
related to solid waste generation and management. 
Methods on how Africa can mitigate the changes 
were presented in relation to the developed world 
intervention strategies. Secondly, a tractor that had 
been invented by the presenter Professor Noble 
Banadda was available at Makerere University 
receiving more advanced applications. The same had 
robust features in boosting production on a farm and 
associated multiple uses. The presenter, who is the 
AICAD Uganda Country Office Director, had hands 
on knowledge on cutting edge technology and had 
received the 2016 Einstein Fellow award.
4.4.3 Sustainable E-Waste Solution

This presentation was made by Dr. Tom Musili, 
Manager, Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment 
(WEEE) Center, Utawala, Kenya who began by 
introducing the challenges being impacted on the 
environment by unregulated disposal of electronic 
and electrical waste. He indicated that WEEE 
Center was in the forefront in rallying like-minded 
institutions to dispose of and recycle the waste in 
proper and sustainable manner. He emphasized the 
fact that as the world embraced digital, electronic 
technologies, waste must be handled with care in 
order to reduce the associated effects of poor disposal 
and related repercussions. This approach would result 
in addressing the challenges of increasing cancer 
disease incidences associated with improper handling 
of E-waste in Eastern Africa with a concerted effort 
to spread throughout Africa. 

This presentation was solicited as part of the 
ongoing collaboration between AICAD and WEEE 
Center. During the plenary discussions the AICAD 
stakeholders particularly the Vice Chancellors whose 
institutions consume a lot of e-appliances were in 
agreement that there were opportunities to expand 
the service to industrial or academic research centres, 
beginning with AICAD’s member universities and 
research institutions in Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda.   
The major conclusion lies behind the fast evolving 
technology with the equipment and appliances that 
these institutions use as the world has gone digital 
and the disposal of obsolete gadgets continues to 
pose a major challenge to the environment. Piling up 
of obsolete e-gadgets without proper knowledge of its 
disposal is a worse risk. 

4.4.4 Biowaste Resources in Kenya, Current 
Uses and Future Potential for Industrial

Exploitation

This presentation was made by Prof. A. G. Gidamis, 
Executive Director, AICAD, Kenya on behalf of the 
AICAD/EU Bio-waste-SP4 project. He summarized 
the findings from the AICAD/EU (Bio-waste-
SP4 project), which ran from 2010 to 2015. The 
presentation gave a brief of the bio-waste project 
which was designed to identify and characterize 
bio-waste streams with a significant sugar or other 
nutrient contents in five African countries namely 
Egypt, Ghana, Kenya, Morocco and South Africa. 
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Sixteen (16) research organizations, including 
AICAD, from Africa, Asia and Europe participated 
in the project work. The project focused on the 
solid waste materials generated from bananas, sweet 
potatoes, cassava, coffee, rice bran and rice straw, all 
of which were under-utilized in the region. The waste 
can be used for the production of bioethanol, biogas, 
biofertilizer, lactic acid, protein and amino acids. A 
summary of the Project publication is available at: 
https://cordis.europa.eu/result/ rcn/182250_en.html.

4.4.5 Management of African Cassava Mosaic 
Disease and Technology Dissemination on 
Cassava Production and Value Addition 

The presentation was made by Prof. Peter Arama of 
the Rongo University in Kenya on the progress made 
in the dissemination of methods for producing, 
processing and marketing cassava (Manihot 
esculenta) in Migori County, Kenya. AICAD 
supported Prof. Arama’s work from the time he was 
based at Maseno University (2002-2008). When he 
relocated to Rongo University, he continued working 
closely with the KIPIEM Farmers Cooperative 
Society to take it further. The improved varieties 
that came out notably MH95/0183 also known 
“Nya-AICAD” and “Nya-JICA” were non-poisonous 
and had a robust resistance against the debilitating 
diseases and pests. Farmers in the area testified 
that the intervention had averted imminent food 
insecurity although issues still remain concerning 
the processing and the general root supply chain 
products. From the findings, the farmers reported 
that members who had adopted the cassava farming 
methods had greatly increased their household 
incomes and curbed household food insecurity. 
This resulted in AICAD’s intervention to sponsor 
training on Value Addition on among other 
products, cassava in the area.

4.5 Administrative Activities undertaken at the 
Uganda Country Office
4.5.1 Repairs and Maintenance 

During July 2015-June 2016 period, a number of 
repairs and maintenance activities were carried out. 
These included:
i. Vehicles: The Prado which had been parked for a 

year was duly repaired. 

ii. Office renovation: Phase two of UCO renovation 
was completed. This included Excavation and 
fixing leakages in the compound, leveling, casting 
slab and trench, stone pitching and generator 
cage installation among others. All the works 
were inspected and approved by the Estates 
directorate of Makerere University, AICAD’s host 
institution. Requisition for phase three funds was 
submitted to the headquarters.

iii. Car shade: A new car shade was installed at the 
office premises. This accommodates two vehicles. 

4.5.2 Registration of Uganda Country Office

The process of registering UCO was further 
invigorated. The draft country agreement was 
cleared by the Ministry Foreign Affairs and Ministry 
of Finance which approved tax exemptions in the 
document with some few adjustments. The document 
is yet to be forwarded to Ministry of Internal Affairs 
for approval of adjustments proposed by Ministry of 
Finance. UCO continues to pursue the matter in a 
bid to tally with other country offices in Kenya and 
Tanzania that save the funds spent on taxes to fund 
more activities and programmes.

4.5.3 Challenges

4.5.3.1 Delay in release of activity funds

Owing to delay in release of funds, the Uganda 
Country Office engaged in fewer activities than 
planned for the year. This delay halted renovation 
works of office premises for almost a whole year. 
UCO is under continuous pressure from Makerere 
University Management to complete the work 
as promised lest the premises do not reflect the 
standards set for all structures at Makerere University 
Campus.

4.5.4 Conclusions

Uganda Country Office is very grateful to AICAD 
Management at the Secretariat in Nairobi for 
the support given. The staff members at UCO 
are committed to working hard at the secretariat 
to ensure that AICAD continues to achieve its 
mandate by increasing on the number of community 
interventions to alleviate poverty through set 
activities and programmes.



AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT 
ANNUAL REPORT   2015 – 2016

32



AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT 
ANNUAL REPORT   2015 – 2016

33

CHAPTER 5
5.0 FINANCIAL REPORT

5.1 Organization’s Information    

Registered Office  AICAD Headquarters
    Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology 
    Off Thika road, 
    P.O.Box 46179 - 00100 
    Nairobi, Kenya. 

Legal Advisers  Ms Zarqa S. Ahmed & Co. Advocates
    P. O.  Box 916 - 00600
    Westlands, 
    Nairobi, Kenya 

Principal Bankers  Barclays Bank Limited
    Barclays Plaza, Business Centre
    P. O.  Box 46661 
    Nairobi, Kenya 
  
    Commercial   Bank of Africa Limited 
    Mara and Ragati Roads, Upperhill 
    P.O. Box 30437 - 00100 
    Nairobi, Kenya 
  
    CfC Stanbic Bank 
    Thika Branch Kigoshi Plaza 
    Private Bag
    Thika, Kenya 
  
    Standard   Chartered   Bank
    P. O.  Box 71949 
    Kampala,   Uganda 
  
    CRDB   Bank 
    P. O.  Box 268
    Dar es Salaam, Tanzania 

Independent Auditor  Horwath Erastus & Co. 
    Certified   Public Accountants 
    Morningside   Office Park, 2nd Floor, Ngong Road
    P. O.  Box 55268 - 00200
    Nairobi, Kenya
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No Name    Organisation  

1.  Dr. Rose  Nassali  Lukwago    Permanent  Secretary,  Ministry  of  Education,  Science  &   
     Technology  Uganda, Chairperson

2. Prof.  Collate A. Suda        Principal   Secretary,   Ministry   of   Education,   Science   &   
     Technology - Kenya, Vice Chairperson

3. Ms. Maimuna  Tarishi          Permanent   Secretary,   Ministry   of   Education,   Science,   
     Technology & Vocational Training – Tanzania

4. Mr. Keith  Muhakanizi         Permanent   Secretary,   Ministry   of   Finance,   Planning  &   
     Economic Development -  Uganda

5. Dr. Doto  James              Permanent  Secretary,   Ministry  of   Finance  &      
     Economic Affairs – Tanzania

6. Dr. Kamau  Thuge                Principal Secretary, National Treasury -  Kenya

7. Prof.  Celestine   Obua        Vice    Chancellor,    Mbarara    University    of    Science    &   
     Technology - Uganda, Chairman of AICAD Annual General   
     Meeting

8. Prof.  Elifas  Bisanda       Vice  Chancellor,  Open University  of Tanzania -  Tanzania   
     Universities Representative

9. Prof.  Fredrick   Otieno       Vice Chancellor, Masinde  Muliro  University  of  Science &   
     Technology -  Kenya Universities Representative

10. Prof.  Eli K.  Rwakishaya    Vice  Chancellor,  Kyambogo  University Universities    
     Representative Uganda

11. Chief Representative    JICA Kenya Office

12. Prof, Andrew   B. Gidamis          Executive Director, AICAD – Secretary

GOVERNING BOARD MEMBERS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30TH JUNE 2016
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5.2 Executive director’s report 

I am pleased to submit the AICAD 2015 12016   audited financial statements pursuant to AICAD Charter, 
Articles 16 and 17. The year 2015 I 2016 is the seventh year of implementation of our rolling Strategic Plan - 
2009 and beyond. The plan focuses on building human capacity through linking knowledge to application in 
order to reduce poverty in the member states.

This  report   highlights    the   activities   undertaken   in  our  four  divisions   of  Research   and Development  (R&D),  
Training  and  Extension  (T&E),  Information,  Network  and  Documentation (IN&D) and Administration   
and   Finance  (A&F)  for the reporting   period running from  1st   July 2015, through to 30th June, 2016. Some 
considerable achievements have been made in all the four divisions as they endeavored to carry out AICAD’s 
mission through the Country Offices in Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda.

The division  of  R&D  was  mainly  involved  in  Research  Coordination  in  Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda  on 
System of  Rice  Intensification (SRI) and Knowledge  and Technology  Dissemination Programmes (KTDP) 
in the thee East African countries of Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda. KTDP in Kenya is mainly on Cassava 
project planning and extending projects to similar agro - ecological areas. In Tanzania the KTDP is on the 
demonstration of low cost housing technology (LCHT) while in Uganda the Programme concentrated on 
Piggery Management. The division was also involved in different collaborative research activities and in research 
proposals development with various development    partners.    In  particular   the  division   was  involved   in  
the  implementation     of Biowaste4SP    Project  that  dealt  with  turning  bio-waste  into  sustainable  products 
through  the development of appropriate conversion technologies applicable in developing countries involving 
16 (sixteen) institutes from 14 (fourteen) countries from Africa, Asia and Europe.

In the T&E division, different regional and In-Country Training (InCT) courses were implemented and these 
included;

(i)   Regional course  on  Sustainable  Urban Development  Management  in collaboration with  UN Habitat 
and the InCT   courses  implemented   included   Rural  Women   Empowerment Programme   in   Kenya   
and   Uganda  whereas   in   Tanzania   the   InCT  was  on   Enterprise Development.

(ii)   On the  Community  Empowerment  Programme  (CEP),  the  division  implemented  the  Ngong Roof 
Water  Harvesting -  Phase Two whereby fourteen  (14) beneficiaries from Ngong Village Kariandusi, 
Nakuru County benefited from the project by receiving 14 tanks on 13th April, 2016.

The IN&D division carried out various activities including;

(i)     Internet connectivity
(ii)    Maintenance of IT facilities
(iii)  Publication of AICAD materials
(iv)  Maintenance   of  database   called  Poverty  Alleviation   Information  and  Knowledge  System (PAIKS)  

and  Coordination  of  information,  network  and  documentation  activities  at  country offices in Kenya, 
Tanzania  and Uganda. These mainly included setting up of The Essential Electronic Agricultural Library 
(TEEAL) in Uganda. This  was  as a result of the  Information Training and Outreach Centre for Africa 
(ITOCA) in collaboration with Albert R. Mann Library, Cornell University selected  AICAD  Uganda 
Country  Office  as a successful applicant for the TEEAL  set.  TEEAL is produced by Albert R.  Mann  
library,  Cornell  University is  a  digital collection  of research  journals  for agriculture  and  related  
sciences.  Researchers, students, faculty and librarians can learn and access thousands of full-text PDF 
articles without the use of the internet.
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(v)  The division also carried out a video documentary of the success stories of AICAD’s past trainees in 
Uganda. This exercise was carried out in Mbarara, Mityana, Wakiso,  Gamba and Gulu districts.  The 
other activities implemented by the division through AICAD Tanzania Country Office (TCO) included 
the annual agricultural show christen Nane Nane organized countrywide by the Government of the 
Republic of Tanzania.

The A &F division continued to support other divisions in terms of resource mobilization. During the reporting 
year, AICAD   had 33 employees. The   Institute  sponsored  some employees  to attend  short  term  courses  
within  and  outside  the  country  on  various  disciplines  to  meet  its operational requirements and in its effort 
to build its human resource capacity.

During the year under review, total revenue collection was KES. 156,829,8681= (main income of KES 
140,756,618/=    and non-monetary grants of KES 16,073, 250/=)   as compared to that of the previous  year  
of  KES.  160,377,088/=     (main income of KES 144,389,0001=   and  non-monetary grants of KES 17,988, 
088/=)  against an expenditure level of KES. 154,429,154/=.   The expenditure level for the last year was KES. 
179,548,6831=.  This gave rise to a net operating balance position of KES. 2,400,7141=  against an operating 
deficit of KES. 19,171,595/= last year.

In conclusion,  I wish  to  most sincerely thank  AICAD  staff,  our  member  states and the people of  Kenya,  
Tanzania   and   Uganda,  development  partners   and  clients  for  their  support  and cooperation that 
significantly contributed to our achievements in 2015 12016.   I appeal to them all for their continued support 
as we strive to achieve our mission of linking knowledge to application within communities in order to reduce 
poverty in the member states.

Prof.  Andrew B. Gidamis 

Executive    Director,     
AICAD NAIROBI, KENYA
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5.3 Report of the governing board 

The Governing Board submit its report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 
June, 2016 which disclose the state of affairs of the institute as at that date.

Principal Activity
The principal activity of the institute is to reduce poverty through human capacity development in Africa. 

Incorporation
African Institute for Capacity Development (AICAD) is a Regional body established by Charter dated 10 
November, 2003 and subscribed to by the Governments of the Republic of Kenya, the United Republic of 
Tanzania and the Republic of Uganda. AICAD was established in year 2000 with the assistance of the Japanese 
Government through Japan International Co-operation Agency and is registered in Kenya as a company limited 
by guarantee - Certificate No. C.9885 dated 11thJune, 2002. AICAD has privileges and Immunities under the 
Privileges and Immunities Act, Cap. 179, (Laws of Kenya) - Legal Notice No. 18 dated 5th February, 2008.

Operating Results
The operating results for the year are shown on page 9

Governing Board
The Governing Board members who were in office during the year and up to the date of this report are disclosed 
on page 1.

Governing Board Benefits
To the date of this report, no member of the Governing Board has received or become entitled to receive any 
benefits other than the Executive Director who is the secretary to the Governing Board and received a salary in 
his capacity as the Chief Executive Officer of the Institute.

Independent Auditor
Horwath Erastus & Co., Certified Public Accountants, have expressed their willingness to continue in office in 
accordance with the Companies Act, 2015, (Laws of Kenya).

By Order of the Board
(For and on its behalf)
 

      Nairobi  2016
Prof. Dominic Byarugaba   
(Ag. Executive   Director)
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5.4 Statement Of Governing Board’s Responsibilities    

The Kenya Companies Act and the establishing Charter of AICAD requires the Governing Board to prepare 
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Institute as at the end of the 
financial year and of the operating results for each year.  It also requires the Governing  Board  to  ensure  that  
proper  accounting  records  which  disclose,  with  reasonable accuracy, the  financial  position  of  the  Institute  
are  maintained.  The Governing Board is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the entity.

The Governing Board accepts responsibility for the financial statements, which have been prepared using  
appropriate  accounting  policies  supported  by  reasonable  and  prudent  judgments  and estimates, consistent 
with previous financial periods, and in conformity with international financial reporting standards and generally 
accepted non-profit accounting principles.

The Governing Board is of the opinion that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of 
the financial affairs of the Institute as at 30 June, 2016 and of its operating results for the year then ended.  The 
Governing Board further confirms the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records maintained at the 
Institute which have been relied upon in the preparation of the financial statements, as well as on the adequacy 
of the systems of internal controls.

Nothing has come to the attention of the Governing Board to indicate that the institute will not remain a going 
concern for at least the next twelve months from the date of this statement despite the operating deficit for the 
year as reported on page 9 and about which the Governing Board is aware.

 Approved on       2016 and signed by:

         
        

 Dr. Rose Nassali  Lukwago

(Chairperson)

 Prof. Dominic Byarugaba
 (Ag. Executive Director)
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5.5 Report Of The Independent Auditor    

AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT -   YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2016

Independent   Opinion

We have audited  the accompanying  financial  statements  of African  Institute for Capacity  Development set 
out on pages  9 to 21, which  comprise  the  statement  of financial  position  as at 30 June,  2016, the statement  of 
comprehensive   income.  the statement  of fund  balances  and statement  of cash  flows for the year then ended 
and a summary  of significant  accounting  policies and other explanatory  notes.

In our opinion,  proper  books  of account  have  been kept  and the  accompanying  financial  statements, which 
are in agreement therewith, give a true and fair view of the financial position of African  Institute for Capacity  
Development   as at 30 June, 2016, and of its financial  performance  and its cash flows for the year then  ended  
in accordance   with  generally   accepted  non-profit  accounting   principles,   applicable international  financial  
reporting  standards  and the Companies  Act No. 17 of 2015 (Laws of Kenya).

Basis for Opinion

We   conducted    our   audit   in   accordance    with   International    Standards    on   Auditing    (ISA).   Our 
responsibilities   under  those  standards  are  further  described  in the Auditor’s   Responsibilities   for the Audit  
of the  Financial  Statements  section  of our  report.  We  are  independent   of African  Institute  for Capacity  
Development   in accordance  with  the  International  Ethics  Standards  Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics  
for Professional  Accountants   (IESBA  Code) together  with the ethical  requirements  that are  relevant   to  our  
audit  of  the  financial   statements   in  Kenya,  and  we  have  fulfilled   our  ethical responsibilities   in accordance  
with these requirements  and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibility for the Financial Statements

As stated  on page 6, the  Governing  Board  is responsible  for the  preparation  and fair presentation  of these 
financial  statements  in accordance  with generally  accepted  non-profit  accounting  principles  and applicable    
international    financial    reporting    standards.    This    responsibility     includes    designing, implementing   and  
maintaining   internal  controls   relevant  to  the  preparation   and  fair  presentation   of financial  statements  
that are free from  material  misstatement,  whether  due to fraud  or error;  selecting and applying  appropriate  
accounting  policies;  and making  accounting  estimates  that  are reasonable  in the circumstances.

In preparing   the   financial    statements,    the   Governing    Board   is  responsible    for   assessing   the 
Organization’s   ability  to  continue   as  a going  concern,  disclosing.   as  applicable,   matters  related  to going  
concern  and  using  the  going  concern  basis  of accounting   unless  the  Governing   Board  either intend to 
liquidate  the Organization  or to cease operations,  or have no realistic  alternative  but to do so.
Responsibility of the Auditor
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Our  objectives   and  responsibility   are  to  obtain  reasonable   assurance   about  whether   the  financial 
statements  as a whole  are free from material  misstatement,  whether  due to fraud or error and to issue 
an independent   auditor’s   report  that  includes  our  opinion.  Reasonable   assurance   is a high level  of 
assurance,  but is not a guarantee  that an audit conducted  in accordance  with ISAs will always detect a material  
misstatement   when  it exists.  Misstatements   can arise from fraud or error and are considered material   if.  
individually   or  in  the  aggregate,   they  could  reasonably   be  expected   to  influence  the economic  decisions  
of users taken on the basis of these financial  statements.

As  part  of  an  audit   in  accordance   with   ISAs,  we  exercise   professional   judgment   and  maintain 
professional  skepticism  throughout  the audit. We also:

• identify  and  assess  the risks of material  misstatement  of the financial  statements,  whether  due to fraud  
or error,  design  and  perform  audit  procedures  responsive  to those  risks.  and  obtain  audit evidence   
that  is  sufficient   and  appropriate   to  provide  a  basis  for  our  opinion.  The  risk  of  not detecting  a 
material  misstatement  resulting  from fraud is higher than for one resulting  from error as fraud  may  
involve  collusion.  forgery,  intentional  omissions,  misrepresentations   or the  override  of internal  
control.

• obtain  an understanding  of internal  control  relevant to the audit in order to design audit  procedures 
that are appropriate  in the circumstances,   but not for the purpose  of expressing  an opinion  on the 
effectiveness  of the entity’s  internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness   of accounting   policies used and the reasonableness   of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by Management.

• conclude   on  the   appropriateness    of  Governing    Board’s   use  of  the   going   concern   basis  of 
accounting   and,  based  on  the  audit  evidence   obtained,   whether   a  material   uncertainty   exists 
related to events or conditions  that may cast significant  doubt on the entity’s  ability to continue  as a 
going concern.  If we conclude  that a material  uncertainty  exists, we are required  to draw  attention 
in  our auditor’s  report  to the  related  disclosures   in the financial  statements  or, if such  disclosures 
are inadequate,  to modify  our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of the  auditor’s  report.  However, future events or conditions   may cause African Institute for 
Capacity Development to cease to continue as a going concern.

• evaluate  the  overall  presentation,  structure  and content  of the financial  statements,   including  the 
disclosures,  and whether  the financial  statements  represent  the underlying  transactions   and events in 
a manner that achieves  fair presentation.

We  communicate  with  those  charged  with  governance   regarding,  among  other  matters,  the  planned scope  
and timing  of the audit  and significant   audit  findings,  including  any  significant   deficiencies  in internal 
control that we identify  during our audit.



AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT 
ANNUAL REPORT   2015 – 2016

41

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory   Requirements

We report to you, based on our audit, that:

i) we  have  obtained  all the  information   and  explanations   which  to the  best  of our  knowledge   and 
belief were  necessary  for the purposes  of our audit;

ii)   in our opinion  proper  books  of account  have  been kept  by the entity,  so far  as appears  from  our 
examination  of those books; and

iii)  the entity’s   statement   of  financial   position   and   statement   of  comprehensive    income   are  in 
agreement  with the books of account.

FCPA Erastus  K. Omolo  practices  in HORWATH ERASTUS  & Co. ClS  a firm  with other partners.  The 
engagement  partner  responsible  for the audit  resulting  in the independent  auditor’s  report  was FCPA Erastus 
K. Omolo -  Practicing  Certificate No. P/1164.

HORWATH  ERASTUS & Co
Certified   Public  Accountants         Nairobi                                             2017   
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AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2016

2016 2015

INCOME Note KES KES

Grants 3 (a) 108,092,660 108,438,500

Seminar income 3 (c) 11,764,913 13,269,092
Rental income 3 (d) 9,052,750 7,804,137

Other income 3 (e) 11,846,295 12,877,271

Total Income 140,756,618 142,389,000

EXPENDITURE

Administrative expenses 4 67,611,095 83,612,860

Program costs 5 57,651,692 62,297,300

Other operating expenses 6 26,556,865 27,242,001

Finance costs - exchange loss 7 2,609,502 6,396,522

Total Expenses 154,429,154 179,548,683
Deficit for the year (13,672,536) (37,159,683)
Non-monetary grants 3 (b) 16,073,250 17,988,088

Net Operating Deficit for the year 2,400,714 (19,171,595)
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AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - 30 JUNE, 2016

ASSETS 2016 2015

Non-Current Assets  Note KES KES
Property and equipment 13 425,200,041 436,470,659

Current Assets
Financial assets 214,806 201,723
Grants and other receivables 10 39,191,105 20,963,380
Cash and cash equivalents 11 9,450,234 6,794,674

Total Current Assets 48,856,145 27,959,777

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 12 52,083,795 32,533,810

Net Current Liabilities (3,227,650) (4,574,033)
Net Assets 421,972,391 431,896,626

REPRESENTED BY

Capital fund 8 35,000,000 35,000,000
Non-monetary grants 422,420,274 434,745,223
Accumulated deficit (35,447,883) (37,848,597)
Net Funds (Page 9) 421,972,391 431,896,626

These financial statements were approved by the Governing Board on ________         2016
and signed by:

Prof. Dominic Byarugaba
(Ag Executive Director)

Dr Rose Nassali Lukwago
___________________________

(Chairman)

___________________________
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AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS  - YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2016

Year ended 30 June, 2015 KES KES KES KES

At start of the year 452,733,311 35,000,000 (18,677,002) 469,056,309
Amortisation of non-monetary grants (17,988,088) 0 17,988,088 0
Operating deficit for the year (Page 8) 0 0 (37,159,683) (37,159,683)
Balance as at 30 June, 2015 434,745,223 35,000,000 (37,848,597) 431,896,626

Year ended 30 June, 2016

At start of the year 434,745,223 35,000,000 (37,848,597) 431,896,626
Additions and Valuations 3,748,301 0 0 3,748,301
Amortisation of non-monetary grants (16,073,250) 0 16,073,250 0
Operating deficit for the year (Page 8) 0 0 (13,672,536) (13,672,536)
Balance as at 30 June, 2016 422,420,274 35,000,000 (35,447,883) 421,972,391

TotalGeneral 
Fund

Capital 
fund

Non-
monetary 

grant 
Fund Movements
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AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  - YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2016

2016 2015

Cash flow from operating activities Note KES KES
Deficit for the year (page 8) 2,400,714 (19,171,595)

Adjustments for:
(Profit) / Loss on disposal of assets (125,000) 120,000
Foreign exchange differences 7 2,609,502 6,396,522
Depreciation of property & equipment 17,488,044 19,010,356
Utilisation of non-monetary grants 3(b) (16,073,250) (17,988,088)

Operating deficit before working capital changes 6,300,010 (11,632,805)

Changes in working capital:
Decrease in trade and other receivables (18,240,808) 10,258,466
Increase / (Decrease) in trade and other payables 19,549,985 (3,638,339)

Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities 7,609,187 (5,012,678)

Cash flows from investing activities
Property and equipment acquisition (2,411,125) (1,806,247)
Software acquisition (313,000) 0
Proceeds from disposal of assets 380,000 240,000

Net cash used in investing activities (2,344,125) (1,566,247)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,265,062 (6,578,925)

Movement in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalent at the start of the year 6,794,674 19,770,121

Effects of foreign exchange differences 7 (2,609,502) (6,396,522)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,265,062 (6,578,925)

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the year 9,450,234 6,794,674
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2016

1       Background Information

(a)     Legal Status
 AICAD is registered in Kenya as a Company (limited by guarantee and not having a share capital) under 

the Companies Act, Cap 486 (now Companies Act, 2015) (Laws of Kenya), Registration Certificate No. 
C.98855 dated 11 June, 2002.  It also enjoys  privileges and immunities  under the  Privileges and  Immunities 
Act,  Cap 179, (Laws of  Kenya) -  Legal Notice No, 18 dated 5th  February, 2008.

(b) Mission and Vision
 Mission
 AICAD’s mission is to link knowledge to application within communities in order to reduce poverty in 

partner countries in Africa.

Vision
AICAD is committed to be a leading African institute in building human capacity for poverty reduction.

2      Significant   Accounting   Policies

(a)    Basis of accounting
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, in accordance with international 
financial reporting standards (IFRS) for small and medium sized entities and generally accepted non-profit 
accounting principles.

(b)    Revenue
The Institute’s revenue mainly comprises of grants received or receivable from the East African Governments, 
Subscriptions from member universities, and receipts from income generating activities, utilization of 
AICAD facilities and other sources.
Grants are recognized when utilized.  Grants are recognized at their fair value on a contractual basis 
according to the terms of the donor contracts and all attaching conditions.
The Institute recognizes receipts and other revenues when the amounts can be reliably measured; it is 
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when the specific criteria have been met 
for each activity.

(c)     Expenditure
Expenditure is recognized when paid.  Accruals are made at year-end to account for expenditure incurred 
and not paid for at the date of the statement of financial position.

(d)    Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and cash 
at bank.

(e)    Property and Equipment
All property and equipment are initially recorded at cost and thereafter stated at historical cost less 
depreciation.  Historical cost comprises expenditure initially incurred to bring the asset to its location and 
condition ready for its intended use.
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each date of the 
statement of financial position.
Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying 
amount and are taken into account in determining the operating results for the year.
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f)      Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method at rates estimated to write down the cost of each 
asset to its residual value over its estimated useful life using the following annual rates:

 
Asset Class    Annual Rate %

Computer equipment   33.3
Health fitness equipment   33.3
Catering equipment   33.3
Motor vehicles    25.0
Furniture and fittings   12.5
Office equipment    10.0
Buildings     2.0

 
Each part of an item of property and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of 
the item is depreciated separately.

(g)     Non-Monetary Grants
Non-monetary grants represent capital asset donations received and are recognized at cost or  fair  market  
value.   Donated assets are  capitalized  and  included  in  property  and equipment.
The cost of non-monetary grants is amortized at the asset depreciation rates to write down their values over 
the estimated useful life.

(h)    Intangible  Assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated  
amortization  and accumulated impairment  losses. Amortization  is computed and recognized  on  a 
straight-line  basis over the estimated  useful life of the asset. The estimated useful life and amortization 
methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate  being 
accounted for on a prospective basis.
Computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 
specific software. The costs are amortized over the estimated useful life of the software which is estimated 
to be 3 years.

(i)      Trade Payables
Trade payables arise from the ordinary course of business where the organization receives goods and 
services and pays for them at a later date. Payables include accruals for leave and provisions for future 
severance obligations which may or  may not crystallize

(j)      Trade Receivables
Trade receivables are carried at original invoiced amount less an estimate made for doubtful debts based on 
a review of all outstanding amounts at the year end.
Trade receivables not collectible are written off against the related provisions through the statement of 
comprehensive income. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off  are  credited  to  the  
statement  of  comprehensive  income  in  the  year  of  recovery.

(k)     Financial Assets
Financial assets are carried at market. A financial asset is impaired if its carrying amount is greater than its  
estimated  recoverable  amount.  The amount of the impairment loss for assets carried at amortized cost is 
calculated as the difference between the assets carrying amount and the present values of expected future 
cash flows, discounted at the financial instrument’s   effective  interest  rate.  Impairment losses are  taken   
into  account  when determining operating results for that year.
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(I)      Financial  Liabilities
Financial  liabilities  are  recognized  initially  at fair  value  and  subsequently  measured  at amortized cost, 
using the effective interest rate method.

(m)    Pre-operating   Costs
Pre-operating costs are expenses incurred to set up and operationalize the institute. Such costs are 
capitalized and thereafter amortized over their estimated useful life of five years. The Institute’s intangible 
assets have been fully amortized.

(n)     Employee  Entitlements
Employees are entitled to gratuity at 25% of the employee’s basic pay recognized on an accrual basis. A 
provision is made for the estimated liability for such entitlements as a result of services rendered by the 
employees up to the date of the statement of financial position.
The organization and its employees contribute to the National Social Security Fund (NSSF) of  the  Republic  
of  Kenya.    NSSF  is  a statutory  defined  contribution  retirement  benefit scheme registered under the 
NSSF Act. The organisation’s contributions are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the 
year to which they relate.

(0)     Translation   of Foreign  Currencies
On initial recognition, all transactions are recorded in the functional currency (the currency of the  primary  
economic  environment  in which  the  Institute  operates),  which  is  Kenya Shillings.
Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are converted into the functional currency using the 
exchange rate prevailing at the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities at the  date  of  the  statement  
of  financial  position  denominated  in  foreign  currencies  are translated into the functional currency using 
the exchange rate prevailing at that date. The resulting foreign exchange gains / losses from the settlement 
of such transactions and from year  end  translation  are  recognized  on  a net basis in the statement  of 
comprehensive income in the year in which they arise, except for differences arising on translation of non- 
monetary assets available-for-sale which are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

(p)     Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the 
current year

14.   Taxation
No provision for corporate taxation   has  been  made  in these  financial  statements.   The organization  
qualifies  for exemption   from  Kenyan  corporate  tax under  the  provisions  of paragraph  10 of the first 
schedule  to the Income Tax Act, Cap 470  (Laws of Kenya)  and  under  its Headquarter  Agreement  witht 
the Government  of Kenya (note  1 (a) - Page 13).

15.  Capital Commitments
The organization  had no capital  commitment  as at 30th June, 2016.

16.  Employees
Employees  as at 30th June,  2016 were thirty three  (33) persons,  [2015: thirty two (32)].
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AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2016

3 Income 2016 2015

(a) Grants KES KES

Grants from regional governments:

Kenya 40,000,000 40,000,000
Tanzania 17,172,451 17,172,480
Uganda 14,220,000 14,276,000

Government programm support:  

Kenya 16,000,000 16,000,000
Uganda 12,610,189 12,900,000
Tanzania 8,090,020 8,090,020

Total grants & programm support 108,092,660 108,438,500

(b) Non-monetary grant income 16,073,250 17,988,088

 (c) Seminar income

Facility utilization income

Seminar room 13,708,405 10,475,015
Accomodation 11,467,455 18,834,942
Assembly hall 4,045,400 2,790,100
Food & drinks 1,889,135 3,498,750
Computer labs 380,000 433,900
Transport 219,900 229,770
Sundry 121,450 66,212
Atrium 120,000 1,000
Equipment hire 66,000 157,129
Less: Facility utilization expenses
Catering costs (13,680,135) (16,366,702)
Hostel running (3,400,656) (3,630,200)
Cleaning & laundry (3,172,041) (3,220,824)

Total seminar income 11,764,913 13,269,092

(d) Rental income

Pan African University (PAUISTI) 4,620,000 3,150,000
Cafeteria 2,996,607 3,653,164
JKUAT SRBS 780,000 780,000
AAIN 455,000 0
Weza Sacco 149,000 0
Cyber café 29,228 59,562
Health club 22,915 161,411

Total rental income 9,052,750 7,804,137
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AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2016

3 Income 2016 2015
(e) Other Income KES KES

Subscription income 5,400,000 4,752,000
Other donor support 5,080,874 8,140,785
Miscellaneous income 1,226,038 57,106
Sale of assets 125,000 (120,000)
Interest income 14,383 47,380
Total other income 11,846,295 12,877,271

4 Administrative Costs
(a) Employment:

Staff salaries 36,927,261 33,795,829
Gratuity and leave pay provisions 10,946,833 11,319,335
Medical cover 4,131,330 4,027,991
Country director honoraria 1,800,000 1,716,400
Casual wages 505,432 500,085
Advertising and staff recruitment 411,588 1,344,579
Other staff costs 183,278 4,552,082
Settlement allowance 0 1,686,159
Total employment costs 54,905,722 58,942,460

(b) Other administrative expenses:

Meetings and seminars 5,305,168 9,631,860
Travelling and transport 1,950,330 6,005,604
Postage, internet  & telephone services 1,112,286 1,229,042
Publicity & AICAD day celebrations 911,352 2,959,691
Vehicle running expenses 846,650 2,502,026
Publishing, printing and stationary 701,143 655,767
Subscriptions and periodicals 436,191 415,803
Legal and professional fees 427,500 274,526
KRA Fines and Penalties 327,489 0
Audit fees - current year 331,897 385,000
Bank charges and commissions 220,671 282,809
Miscellaneous expense 92,041 182,636
Entertainment 42,655 61,121
Interest on premium loan 0 84,515
Total other administrative expenses 12,705,373 24,670,400

Total administrative expenses 67,611,095 83,612,860
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AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2016

2016 2015

5 Program and Country Office Costs KES KES
Program - training & extension division 11,622,338 15,117,950
Country office - Uganda 9,787,457 6,364,777
Program - information network & documentation 8,612,913 8,915,646
Country office - Kenya 8,215,693 7,105,297
Country office - Tanzania 7,908,159 7,485,853
Program - research & development 7,786,784 9,067,778
Donor funded activities 3,718,348 8,239,999
Total program and country office costs 57,651,692 62,297,300

6 Other Operating Costs
Depreciation on plant and equipment 17,488,044 19,010,356
Electricity & water 3,526,430 3,289,386
Repairs and maintenance 1,852,370 2,106,640
Security 1,602,637 1,431,327
Ground maintenance 1,043,906 839,160
Insurance 1,043,478 565,132
Total other operating expenses 26,556,865 27,242,001

7 Finance Costs
Exchange loss 2,609,502 6,396,522

8 Capital Fund
Initial funding by the Kenya government 35,000,000 35,000,000

9 Non-Monetary Grant

Buildings 410,000,000 420,000,000
Furniture & fittings 7,176,010 6,485,523
Office equipment 2,069,029 2,237,200
Motor vehicles 1,675,235 4,272,500
Generator 1,500,000 1,750,000
Total non-monetary grant 422,420,274 434,745,223
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AFRICAN INSTITUTE FOR CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2016

2016 2015

10. Grants and Other Receivables KES KES

Grants receivable 19,282,420 (6)
University subscriptions 7,273,503 6,155,382
Prepayments 3,566,922 3,227,865
Other receivables 9,068,260 11,580,139

Total grants and other receivables 39,191,105 20,963,380

11. Cash and Cash Equivalents
(a) Cash at bank

Commercial Bank of Africa (Investment) 6,066,389 917,559
Barclays Bank of Kenya - USD 1,790,375 2,191,203
Standard Bank Uganda 817,780 231,694
Barclays Bank of Kenya (KCO) 251,567 425,969
CRDB Bank Tanzania 245,901 755,355
CfC Stanbic 184,304 554,795
Barclays Bank of Kenya - Kshs 66,740 392,241
Barclays Bank - euro account 5,253 1,240,929
Commercial Bank of Africa - USD 3,331 34,278

Total cash at bank 9,431,640 6,744,023

(b) Cash in Hand
Kenya office 12,810 20,020
Tanzania office 5,294 19,612
Uganda office 490 10,975
Excecutive director 0 44

Total cash in hand 18,594 50,651
Total cash and cash equivalents 9,450,234 6,794,674

12. Trade and Other Payables
Other payables - gratuity 27,673,992 22,421,645
Accruals 10,400,427 4,462,227
Trade payables 14,009,376 5,649,938
Total trade and other payables 52,083,795 32,533,810
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